OUR MISSION AND VISION STATEMENTS
Mission
To create value propositions from the unique identifications
of things using solutions that provides innovative, cost-effective,
and efficient ways of doing things.

Vision
To be a global leader in providing value
information to the stakeholders by leveraging on talents,
innovative technologies and new ideas.

Tagline
Use us to be ahead

Brand Promise
Highest quality of service and value creation for customers in order for them
to achieve business processes optimisation and providing secured relationship
with the internal and external environment.

Value
• Innovative
• Quality
• Responsive
• Accountability
• Trusted
• Diverse
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Valued Shareholders,
I have pleasure in presenting, on behalf of the Board of
Directors, the Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements
of Smartag Solutions Berhad (“Smartag”) and its subsidiaries
(“Group”) for the financial year ended 30 September 2011.
Smartag was successfully listed on the Ace Market of Bursa
Malaysia Securities Berhad on 18 April 2011, a significant
milestone in the history of the Group.
Our share price opened at RM0.375 on the first day, which
represented a 21% premium compared to the Initial Public
Offering (“IPO”) price of RM0.31; and reached a mid-day
high of RM0.395 before closing the day at RM0.38.
I wish to take this opportunity to extend the Company’s
utmost appreciation to the regulatory bodies, our sponsor,
investors, business associates, consultants, bankers, lawyers
and all parties which were involved in one way or another,
for their help in making the listing of Smartag a great success.
Whilst the Group has been growing steadily over the years,
the listing exercise has added new impetus and dimension
to our growth, opened up new areas of opportunities and
granted the Group better recognition in the market.
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
For the financial year ended 30 September (“FYE”) 2011,
the Group recorded revenue of RM5.898 million, which
was lower by 74.10% as compared to RM22.77 million
recorded in the previous financial year. The lacklustre sales

for the FYE 2011 was mainly due to heightened commitment
placed by the Group during the second half of the financial
year to ensure the successful commercialisation of the
Security and Trade Facilitation System using Radio Frequency
Identification (“RFID”) project with the Royal Malaysian
Customs (“Customs Project”), which is expected to generate
long term recurring revenue for the Group. As a result of
the diversion in resources to focus on the Customs Project,
the Group was unable to secure sufficient sales from other
projects due to limited marketing efforts and had registered
lower sales during the period.
On the back of the lower revenue, the Group posted a loss
before tax of RM1.699 million for the FYE 2011. The loss
before tax was mainly due to lacklustre sales as discussed
above and operational expenses amounting to RM4.376
million (which includes mainly operational costs such as staff
costs, travelling expenses, selling and distribution expenses
and administrative expenses), out of which RM0.740 million
have been attributed to one-off cost incurred for its IPO
and other costs such as professional advisory fees and also
RM0.271 million which was attributed to realized loss on
foreign exchange. The Group is taking cautionary measures
to monitor its day-to-day expenses in light of its relatively low
sales level. Expenses incurred have been mainly related to the
Group’s efforts towards commercialising the Customs Project
and also expanding its staff size and marketing efforts to
cater to the work demand of both the Customs Project and in
securing other new RFID projects.
The Group’s balance sheet however remains favourable with
a zero gearing position and cash and cash equivalents of
RM19.65 million as at 30 September 2011.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (cont’d)
PROSPECT & OUTLOOK
The Group has entered into an exciting stage of growth
development as the Group has successfully implemented its
land checkpoint project in Thailand and Customs Project in
Malaysia. These are service-based projects which will enable
the Group to have recurring revenue. Leveraging on this
service and understanding the users’ need for real time
tracking, the Group has developed a value-added service called
“Secured GPS” to provide real-time fleet management of the
containers and trucks. Barring unforeseen circumstances, the
Group believes that this service will contribute to the future
growth of the Group.
As the Group builds its recurring revenue business model under
the service-based projects, the Group is also undertaking the
necessary steps to boost its traditional project-based revenue
by continuously strengthening its sales force. The Group
will strive to balance between its operational costing and
timing of increase in staff size to cater for current projects
and continuous marketing efforts to secure future projects.
The Group is also exploring into other areas of potential
RFID implementations such as in the healthcare industry and
mobile consumer RFID electronic wallet.

As for the supply chain industry, according to the Malaysia
Institute for Supply Chain Innovation, the stage is set for
Southeast Asia to take its place as a world-leading trading
power. Located in the heart of a vibrant economic zone,
ASEAN countries have a combined population of 600 million
people and a GDP of USD1.5 trillion. Thus, the Group believes
that supply chain will play a very important role in ensuring
that goods manufactured are well distributed internally within
ASEAN and to its two huge neighbours, namely China and
India. This is further strengthened by the aim of ASEAN to
establish a single market, the ASEAN Economic Community
by 2015. Henceforth, the need for technologies such as RFID
which will create better efficiency and reduce logistics costs is
expected to increase drastically.
In the manufacturing sector, the Group believes that as
manufacturers find more ways to increase productivity,
efficiency and quality, RFID technologies will be one of the
technologies to be adopted by the manufacturers to achieve
their goals.
Thus, the Group is cautiously optimistic that the Group will be
able to secure sales within these three sectors.
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT AND APPRECIATION

INDUSTRY TRENDS & DEVELOPMENTS
For many companies facing dismal markets, and depressing
financial outlooks, it’s not a question of getting back to
business as usual, but grabbing onto a life ring that will
keep them afloat for the duration. While radio frequency
identification alone can’t restore the good times, a growing
number of businesses are convinced that the technology can
help them better survive the tough period, however long it
lingers, and position them to hit the ground running once the
economy gets back in gear.
(Source: RFID Journal dated 19 December 2011, titled “RFID:
A Strong Technology in a Weak Economy” by John Edwards)

My appreciation also goes to my fellow Directors for their
committed efforts during the year towards achievement of
our corporate objectives.
Finally, I would like, on behalf of the Group, to thank our
valued shareholders, customers and business associates and
the authorities for their support rendered to the Group in the
year 2011.

With this in mind, the Group believes that the products
and solutions that are available within the Group are wellpositioned to assist companies to better optimise their
business processes and protect their bottom line and market
share. In order to do this, the Group is actively promoting
its products and solutions through various channels ranging
from exhibitions to conferences.

Thank you.

The Group believes that the usage of RFID in terms of
business process optimization in the healthcare, supply chain
and manufacturing sectors is gaining traction globally.

Date: 9 January 2012

The healthcare industry is one of the key resilient sectors in a
challenging business environment. RFID usages in healthcare
range from asset tracking for better visibility of expensive
medical devices to patient monitoring. According to the latest
research from VDC Research, the use of RFID in healthcare
is expected to grow 31.5 per cent over the next four years.
In 2011, the global healthcare industry will consume just
under 150 million RFID tags. By 2015, healthcare will account
for nearly half a billion in RFID tag unit shipments, a market
valued at USD225 million.

04

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to express
my gratitude to the management and staff of the Smartag
Group for their contribution to the Group during the financial
year under review.
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Datuk Abdul Hamed bin Sepawi
Non-Independent Non-Executive Chairman

CORPORATE PROFILE
Smartag Solutions Berhad (“Smartag” or the “Company”) was incorporated in Malaysia on 12 January 2004 under the
Companies Act, 1965 as a private limited company under the name of Smartag and was subsequently converted into a public
limited company on 11 June 2008 and assumed its present name.
The corporate structure of Smartag and its subsidiaries and jointly-owned entity (“Group”) is as follows:
Smartag Solutions Berhad
Date / country of incorporation

12.01.2004 / Malaysia

Issued and paid-up capital (RM)

22,700,000

Principal activities

Provision of RFID solutions for
various applications

Smartag Technologies Sdn. Bhd.
100.00%

Date / country of incorporation

27.11.2002 / Malaysia

Issued and paid-up capital (RM)

50,098

Principal activities

Currently dormant

Smartag International Inc.
94.01%

Date / country of incorporation

24.03.1999 / USA

Total paid-in capital (USD)

1,238,998

Principal activities

Currently dormant

Sure-Reach Smartag Sdn. Bhd.
50.00%

Date / country of incorporation

11.03.2010 / Malaysia

Issued and paid-up capital (RM)

10,030,000

Principal activities

R&D of information technologies
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Datuk Abdul Hamed bin Sepawi
(Non-Independent Non-Executive Chairman)

Dato’ Ngiam Foon (Chairman)
Dato’ Seri Chia Kwang Chye (Member)
Lim Boh Soon (Member)

Lim Peng Keong
(Chief Executive Officer / Executive Director)
Choong Huck Liang		
(Chief Technology and Operations Officer / Executive Director)
Dato’ Ngiam Foon
(Senior Independent Non-Executive Director)

Lim Boh Soon (Chairman)
Dato’ Ngiam Foon (Member)
Dato’ Seri Chia Kwang Chye (Member)
Datuk Abdul Hamed bin Sepawi (Member)

Dato’ Seri Chia Kwang Chye
(Independent Non-Executive Director)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Lim Boh Soon
(Independent Non-Executive Director)

COMPANY SECRETARIES
Tai Yit Chan (MAICSA 7009143)
Ong Tze-En (MAICSA 7026537)
Chin Lee Phing (MAICSA 7057836)

REGISTERED OFFICE
Suite 2-1, 2nd Floor
Menara Penang Garden
42A Jalan Sultan Ahmad Shah
10050 Pulau Pinang
Tel: (604) 229 4390
Fax: (604) 226 5860

HEAD OFFICE
368-4-1, Bellisa Row
Jalan Burmah
10350 Georgetown
Pulau Pinang
Tel: (604) 227 5013
Fax: (604) 226 3591
Website: http://www.smartag.my
Email: ir@smartag.my
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Dato’ Seri Chia Kwang Chye (Chairman)
Lim Boh Soon (Member)
Dato’ Ngiam Foon (Member)
Datuk Abdul Hamed bin Sepawi (Member)

AUDITORS
Baker Tilly Monteiro Heng (AF 0117)
Monteiro & Heng Chambers
22 Jalan Tun Sambanthan 3
50470 Kuala Lumpur

SHARE REGISTRAR
Boardroom Corporate Services (KL) Sdn. Bhd. (3775-X)
Lot 6.05, Level 6, KPMG Tower
8 First Avenue, Bandar Utama
47800 Petaling Jaya
Selangor Darul Ehsan
Tel: (603) 7720 1188
Fax: (603) 7720 1111

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Malayan Banking Berhad (3813-K)
CIMB Bank Berhad (13491-P)
OCBC Al-Amin Bank Berhad (818444-T)
AmInvestment Services Berhad (154432-A)

SPONSOR

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING

Kenanga Investment Bank Berhad (15678-H)
801, 8th Floor, Kenanga International
Jalan Sultan Ismail, 50250 Kuala Lumpur
Tel: (603) 2027 5555
Fax: (603) 2164 6690

ACE Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad
Stock Name: SMARTAG
Stock Code: 0169
Sector: Technology
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DIRECTORS’ PROFILE
DATUK ABDUL HAMED BIN SEPAWI
Non-Independent Non-Executive Chairman
Aged 63, Malaysian
Datuk Abdul Hamed bin Sepawi is a Non-Independent Non-Executive Chairman of Smartag Solutions Berhad (“Smartag”).
He was appointed to the Board of Smartag as a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director on 2 July 2008. He is presently a
member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committees of Smartag. He also sits on the board of the subsidiary of Smartag,
namely Smartag International Inc.
He graduated with a Bachelor of Science degree from University of Malaya in 1971. He pursued undergraduate studies in
Forestry at the Australia National University and later obtained an MSc in Forest Products from Oregon State University, USA.
He has been involved in forest management and manufacturing for the last 16 years.
He is Chairman of Ta Ann Holdings Berhad, Naim Holdings Berhad and Sarawak Plantation Berhad, companies listed on Bursa
Malaysia Securities Berhad. He is also the Chairman of Sarawak Energy Berhad and Syarikat SESCO Berhad, which are non-listed
companies. He sits as Board member in the Risk and Audit Committee of KWSP (EPF).
He has no family relationship with any other Director and / or major shareholder of Smartag and does not have any conflict
of interest with Smartag. Further, he has not been convicted of any offences within the past ten (10) years other than traffic
offences, if any.
He has attended two out of three (2/3) Board of Directors’ Meetings held in the financial year ended 30 September 2011.

LIM PENG KEONG
Chief Executive Officer / Executive Director
Aged 34, Malaysian
Lim Peng Keong is the Chief Executive Officer of Smartag. He was appointed to the Board of Smartag as Executive Director on
12 January 2004. He also sits on the board of the subsidiaries of Smartag, namely Smartag Technologies Sdn Bhd and Smartag
International Inc. as well as its associate company, namely Sure-Reach Smartag Sdn Bhd.
He graduated with a Bachelor of Science degree in Computing from the University of Portsmouth in 2001 and obtained a
Masters degree in Business Administration majoring in Human Resource Management from the University of Nottingham Trent
in 2004.
He joined the workforce in 2001 when he joined a foreign bank as a business financial executive. Later in 2002, he joined the
Socio-Economic & Environmental Research Institute (“SERI”), a non-profit independent think-tank as a research member. He left
SERI in 2004 to join Smartag as one of Smartag’s pioneering member and director and subsequently helmed the role of Chief
Executive Officer of Smartag in 2007. During his tenure as CEO of Smartag, he has managed to successfully grow the Group’s
business and reputation as an established RFID service provider through bigger projects and collaborative partnerships with
government bodies and business partners. He does not hold any directorship in other public companies in Malaysia.
He has no family relationship with any other Director and / or major shareholder of Smartag and does not have any conflict
of interest with Smartag. Further, he has not been convicted of any offences within the past ten (10) years other than traffic
offences, if any.
He has attended all three (3) Board of Directors’ Meetings held in the financial year ended 30 September 2011.
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DIRECTORS’ PROFILE (cont’d)
CHOONG HUCK LIANG
Chief Technology and Operations Officer/ Executive Director
Aged 41, Malaysian
Choong Huck Liang is a Chief Technology and Operations Officer of Smartag. He was appointed to the Board of Smartag as
Executive Director on 24 May 2007. He also sits on the board of the subsidiaries of Smartag, namely Smartag Technologies Sdn
Bhd and Smartag International Inc. as well as its associate company, namely Sure-Reach Smartag Sdn Bhd.
He graduated from KDU College accredited by Humberside University with a Higher Diploma in Computer Studies in 1993. He
is a Professional Member (MBCS) of BCS, the Chartered Institute for IT since 10 March 2004 which was renewed on 21 March
2011. In 2010, he obtained his Commonwealth Executive MBA from the Wawasan Open University of Malaysia.
He has been involved in the local ICT industry for more than 18 years, being exposed to various positions in the industry over
the years. In 2003, he was awarded the Pingat Jasa Kebaktian by the Penang Yang di-Pertua Negeri for developing the Penang
State Government E-Government Application or AdunNet which is a web portal to enable Penang state elected representatives
to submit their questions to the Penang State Executive Committee.
He joined Smartag in 2007 as Chief Technology and Operations Officer (“CTOO”). During his tenure as CTOO, he has
continuously aided the Company in keeping up with the latest technological advancement and trends in RFID. He does not
hold any directorship in other public companies in Malaysia.
He has no family relationship with any other Director and / or major shareholder of Smartag and does not have any conflict of
interest with Smartag. Further, he has not convicted of any offences within the past ten (10) years other than traffic offences,
if any.
He has attended all three (3) Board of Directors’ Meetings held in the financial year ended 30 September 2011.

DATO’ NGIAM FOON
Senior Independent Non-Executive Director
Aged 56, Malaysian
Dato’ Ngiam Foon is a Senior Independent Non-Executive Director of Smartag. He was appointed to the Board of Smartag on
20 September 2010. He is presently the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committees of Smartag respectively.
He holds professional qualifications from the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales which he obtained in
1982 and the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants obtained in 1983. He is a member of the Malaysian Institute of
Accountants as well as the Malaysian Institute of Management.
He is actively involved in the travel and tour industry. He has held leading positions on the Malaysian Association of Tour and
Travel Agents (MATTA) since 2005. He was also on the board of directors on the Malaysian Tourism Promotion Board from
2005 to 2009 and was Co-Chairman of the Tourism Focus Group of the Malaysian Services Development Council from 2007
to 2009. He also actively served on several travel advisory boards including Malaysia Healthcare Travel Advisory Board under
the Ministry of Health since 2009, American Express Global Travel Network Advisory Board from 1996 to 2002 and BCD
Travel Global Advisory Council which is one of the largest travel management companies in the world from 2007 to 2009. He
currently is the CEO of a group of travel companies including Asia Experience Tours Sdn Bhd and PST Travel Services Sdn Bhd.
He does not hold any directorship in other public companies in Malaysia.
He has no family relationship with any other Director and / or major shareholder of Smartag and does not have any conflict of
interest with Smartag. Further, he has not convicted of any offences within the past ten (10) years other than traffic offences,
if any.
He has attended all three (3) Board of Directors’ Meetings held in the financial year ended 30 September 2011.
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DIRECTORS’ PROFILE (cont’d)
DATO’ SERI CHIA KWANG CHYE
Independent Non-Executive Director
Aged 60, Malaysian
Dato’ Seri Chia Kwang Chye is an Independent Non-Executive Director of Smartag. He was appointed to the Board of
Smartag on 20 September 2010. He is presently the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit
and Nomination Committees of Smartag respectively.
He holds a Master of Science Degree in Human Settlement Planning from the Asian Institute of Technology, Bangkok, Thailand
which he obtained in 1981 and a Bachelor of Science Degree in Housing, Building and Planning from Universiti Sains Malaysia,
Penang, Malaysia which he obtained in 1977.
He is actively involved in politics and has held portfolios as Deputy Minister of Information in the Ministry of Information from
2006 to 2008, as Deputy Minister of Internal Security in the Ministry of Internal Security from 2004 to 2006 and was also
Parliamentary Secretary under the Ministry of Energy, Communications and Multimedia (now known as the Ministry of Energy,
Water and Communications) from 1999 to 2004. He was also Member of Parliament for the Bukit Bendera constituency in
Penang for 13 years until 2008. He held the position of Secretary General of Parti Gerakan Rakyat Malaysia and is currently
holding the post of Vice President in the party. From 2001 to 2004, he has been the Chairman of the Connectivity Steering
Committee of Penang K-ICT Council (now known as the K-Economy Council) which is tasked in advancing and improving the
state of Penang in various aspects through ICT. He does not hold any directorship in other public companies in Malaysia.
He has no family relationship with any other Director and / or major shareholder of Smartag and does not have any conflict of
interest with Smartag. Further, he has not convicted of any offences within the past ten (10) years other than traffic offences,
if any.
He has attended two out of three (2/3) Board of Directors’ Meetings held in the financial year ended 30 September 2011.

LIM BOH SOON
Independent Non-Executive Director
Aged 56, Singaporean
Lim Boh Soon is an Independent Non-Executive Director of Smartag. He was appointed to the Board of Smartag on 20
September 2010. He is presently the Chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the Audit and Remuneration
Committees of Smartag respectively.
He holds a Bachelor of Science (1st Class Honours) Degree in Mechanical Engineering from the University of Strathclyde,
United Kingdom that he obtained in 1981 and subsequently his Ph.D in Mechanical Engineering in 1985. He also holds a
Diploma in Marketing from the Chartered Institute of Marketing, United Kingdom as well as a Graduate Diploma in Marketing
Management from the Singapore Institute of Management, Singapore both of which he obtained in 1991. He was also
awarded the SMU-SID Executive Certificate in Directorship from the Singapore Management University in 2007.
From 2007 to 2010, he was the CEO of Kuwait Finance House (Singapore) Pte Ltd and was tasked to set up the Islamic banking
operations in Singapore. Prior to that, from 2005 to 2007, he was appointed as the first foreign expatriate CEO of Vietcombank
Fund Management, which is a subsidiary of the Bank for Foreign Trade of Vietnam. At Vietcombank Fund Management, he
was instrumental in obtaining its investment license and was part of the fund management team that successfully raised two
(2) closed end private equity funds namely Vietcombank Partners Fund I and Vietcombank Partners Fund II with fund values
of USD12.5 million and USD120.8 million respectively. He was later part of the fund management team under Kuwait Finance
House that successfully set-up the USD150 million Shariah-compliant shipping fund for Kuwait Finance House (Labuan) Berhad
and SFS Group PCL which was launched successfully in January 2010.
Over the years, he held various senior management positions and has helmed the position of CEO or partner in various regional
and multinational companies. Presently, he holds directorship in several public and private companies both in Singapore as well
as overseas. He does not hold any directorship in other public companies in Malaysia.
He has no family relationship with any other Director and / or major shareholder of Smartag and does not have any conflict of
interest with Smartag. Further, he has not convicted of any offences within the past ten (10) years other than traffic offences,
if any.
He has attended all three (3) Board of Directors’ Meetings held in the financial year ended 30 September 2011.
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STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board of Directors which is entrusted with the principal responsibility for good corporate governance of the Company is
endeavouring to secure fulfilment of its responsibility in this aspect.
In manifestation of its commitment for good corporate governance as enumerated in The Malaysian Code on Corporate
Governance ("the Code"), appropriate measures have been or are being taken by the Company for compliance with the said
Code. The Board is pleased to report the Company's application of the underlying principles set out in the Code and the extent
that the Company has complied with the Code.
Principal Responsibilities of the Board
The Board in discharge of its stewardship responsibilities has endeavoured to bring about strategic planning, overseeing the
conduct of the operations, identifying principal risks and reviewing internal control systems and information systems, and will
also look into succession planning and investor relation programmes or shareholder communication policy.
The Board is committed to achieve high standards of corporate governance throughout the Group and high level of integrity
and ethics in its business dealings. In this regard, the Board has endeavoured to fully comply with all the Principles in Part 1
of the Code and has taken steps to ensure that the Best Practices as recommended in Part 2 of the Code are adopted and
complied as far as possible throughout the Group. Accordingly, the Board is pleased to outline in this Statement on Corporate
Governance as to its commitment to comply with Part 1 and Part 2 of the Code.
Board Composition
The Board of Directors of the Company comprises six members, of whom one is Non-Independent Non-Executive Chairman,
two are Executive Directors, and three are Independent Non-Executive Directors. The Board members who are from varied
background are equipped with relevant knowledge and/or experience for proper running of the management machinery
towards achievement of objectives of the Company. The Board is headed by the Chief Executive Officer who is also the
Executive Director for implementation of decisions of the Board. There is sufficient number of Independent Directors has been
maintained to meet the requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad in relation to one-third Independent Directors unless
otherwise approved by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The Board will, from time to time, examine its size with a view to
determining the impact of the number of members upon its effectiveness.
The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are separated to ensure that there is a balance of power and authority.
The Chairman is responsible for running the Board and ensures that all Directors receive sufficient relevant information on
financial and non-financial matters to enable them to participate actively in Board decisions whereas the Chief Executive Officer
is responsible for the day to day management of the business as well as the implementation of Board policies and decisions.
The Board together with the Chief Executive Officer will develop position descriptions for the Board and for the Chief Executive
Officer setting out limits to management’s responsibilities. The corporate objectives for which the Chief Executive Officer is
responsible to meet will be approved by the Board or developed with the Chief Executive Officer.
Directors’ Training
The Board of Directors had resolved that it, having evaluated and determined the training needs of its members in accordance
with Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, was of the view that its members had satisfied such training
needs and would, as and when deemed appropriate, attend further training to be determined from time to time.
Orientation and education programmes will, if deemed fit, be arranged for new recruits to the Board as an integral element of
the process of appointing new Directors. All Directors have attended and successfully completed the Mandatory Accreditation
Programme (MAP) conducted currently by Bursatra Sdn. Bhd.
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STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (cont’d)
Board Meetings
The Board ordinarily meets with due notice and agenda with additional meetings convened when urgent and important
decisions need to be made in between the scheduled meetings, of which are properly minuted. During the financial year ended
30 September 2011, the Board met on three (3) occasions; where it deliberated upon and considered various matters.
Details of attendance of the Directors at the Board Meetings held during the financial year are as follows:
MEETINGS ATTENDED (OUT OF THREE)
Datuk Abdul Hamed bin Sepawi

Non-Independent Non-Executive Chairman

2/3

Lim Peng Keong

Chief Executive Officer / Executive Director

3/3

Choong Huck Liang

Chief Technology & Operations Officer / Executive Director

3/3

Dato’ Ngiam Foon

Senior Independent Non-Executive Director

3/3

Dato’ Seri Chia Kwang Chye

Independent Non-Executive Director

2/3

Lim Boh Soon

Independent Non-Executive Director

3/3

There are formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to the Board for decision-making to ensure that the direction and
control of the Company are firmly in its hands.
Access to Information
The Directors have unrestricted access to all information within the Company whether as a full Board or in their individual
capacity in furtherance of their duties. Data and reports in both soft and hard copies are readily available to the Board
members. Board meetings which are scheduled to be held are also presented with relevant reports for decision-making of the
issues concerned. The agendas for the Board meetings are circulated well in advance to the Board. The proceedings at all
Board meetings are duly minuted. The Minutes of these proceedings are kept at the registered office of the Company. The
Company Secretary or her representative attends all Board meetings and ensures the Board procedures and all other rules and
regulations applicable to the Company are complied with.
The Board has access to quality information which is not only historical or bottom line and financial-oriented but also that goes
beyond assessing the quantitative performance of the Company such as customer satisfaction, product and service quality
among others. The Chairman of the Board undertakes primary responsibility for organising information required, such as that
to be arranged for circulation by the Company Secretary, for Board Meetings and to Directors on a timely basis.
The Directors, whether as a full Board or in their individual capacity are given access to seek independent professional advice
at the expense, if any, of the Company. The Directors have also unhindered access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary. The Board believes that the current Company Secretary is capable of carrying out her duties to ensure the effective
functioning of the Board. The Company Secretary who meets the requirements is appointed by the Board for discharge of the
duties and termination of her services is a matter of the Board as a whole. The Board recognises that the Chairman is entitled
to the strong and positive support of the Company Secretary in ensuring the effective functioning of the Board.
Appointment and re-election of directors
A Nomination Committee of Directors currently comprising three Independent Non-Executive Directors and one NonIndependent Non-Executive Chairman has been set up in relation to, inter alia, appointments to the Board.
New appointments to the Board will be made only after consultation and deliberation among existing Board members taking
into account the candidate’s suitability based on, among others, his or her qualification, experience and calibre prior to formal
resolution being passed to that effect.
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STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (cont’d)
Appointment and re-election of directors (cont'd)
All Directors are subject to retirement at least once in every three years on the basis that one-third in number of the Directors
are to retire by rotation or, if the number is not 3 or multiple of 3, the number nearest to one-third shall retire from office
at each Annual General Meeting but are eligible for re-election. This provides an opportunity for shareholders to renew their
mandates. The election of each Director is voted on separately. To assist shareholders in their decision, sufficient information
such as personal profile and the shareholdings in the Group (if any) of each Director standing for election are furnished in a
separate statement accompanying the Notice of the Annual General Meeting.
The requisite services of Company Secretary have been secured who will, inter alia, effect proper documentation of all
appointments, endeavour procurement of required information for the records of the Company and for the purposes of
meeting statutory obligations as well as obligations arising from the Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad
or other regulatory requirements.
Directors’ Remuneration
The remuneration of Board members are broadly categorised into those to be paid to Executive and Non-Executive Directors.
The Executive Directors are remunerated both in cash and in kind taking into consideration, inter alia, their experience,
positions, responsibilities and performance. The Non-Executive Directors are paid fees for their services as Directors subject to
shareholders’ approval at Annual General Meeting and allowances for attending meetings of the Board and its Committees.
Formal and transparent procedure will be set out for developing a policy on executive remuneration and for fixing the
remuneration packages of individual Directors, whether Executive or Non-Executive, who will abstain from discussion and
participation in decisions on their own remuneration packages.
The aggregate remuneration of the Directors for the financial year ended 30 September 2011 with categorization into
appropriate components is as follows: -

Executive
Non-Executive

Fees
RM

Salaries and Allowances
RM

-

604,800

192,000

-

The number of Directors whose remuneration falls in the following bands is tabulated below: Number of Directors
Remuneration Band

Executive

Non-Executive

Below RM50,000

-

4

RM150,001 to RM200,000

-

-

RM200,001 to RM250,000

-

-

RM250,001 to RM300,000

-

-

RM300,001 to RM350,000

2

-

The Company did not disclose each Directors’ remuneration separately as required by the Code as the Board is of the view that
the disclosure of the remuneration bands of the Company’s Directors is sufficient.
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STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (cont’d)
Dialogue with Shareholders and Investors
The Company's Annual General Meeting serves as a principal forum for dialogue with the shareholders. The key element of the
Company’s dialogue with its shareholders is the opportunity to gather views of, and answer questions from, both individual
and institutional shareholders on all issues relevant to the Company at the Annual General Meeting. It is also a requirement
for the Company to send the Notice of the Annual General Meeting and related papers to shareholders at least twenty one
(21) days before the meeting. At the Annual General Meeting, shareholders are encouraged to ask questions both about the
resolutions being proposed or about the Group’s operations in general. Where it is not possible to provide immediate answers,
the Chairman will undertake to furnish the shareholder with a written answer after the Annual General Meeting. The Chairman
of the Board also addresses the shareholders on the review of the Group’s operations for the financial year and outlines the
prospects of the Group for the subsequent financial year.
The Board values the importance of keeping shareholders informed of all major developments and performance on a timely
basis. Dissemination of information via appropriate channels of communication includes distribution of Annual Report and
Circular to shareholders to further enhance the transparency and communication with shareholders.
The Company’s website, www.smartag.my provides a comprehensive avenue for information dissemination, such as dedicated
sections on corporate information including financial information, press releases and company news. Shareholders are able to
put questions to the Company through its email published in the website and the Company will reply accordingly.
While the Company endeavours to provide as much information as possible to its shareholders and stakeholders, it is mindful
of legal and regulatory framework governing the release of material and price-sensitive information. Such material and pricesensitive information are not released unless it has been duly announced or made public through proper channels.
Board Committees
The authority or terms of reference of committees appointed by the Board are determined whether expressed or implied for a
particular purpose. Authority to act on behalf of the Board is delegated if required.
Audit Committee
An Audit Committee has been established comprising three Non-Executive and Independent Directors with expressed terms of
reference which deal with its authority and duties.The composition, duties and responsibilities and summary of the activities of
the Audit Committee during the financial year are disclosed in the Audit Committee Report on pages 16 to 19 of this annual
report.
The Audit Committee has explicit authority to investigate any matter within its terms of reference; the resources which it
needs to do so and full access to information. The Committee may obtain external professional advice and to invite others with
relevant experience to attend if the need arises.
The Audit Committee meets regularly with due notice and agenda in compliance with the requirements of Bursa Malaysia
Securities Berhad. Proceedings of the meetings are properly minuted.
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STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (cont’d)
Remuneration Committee
A Remuneration Committee of Directors consisting exclusively of Non-Executive Directors has been set up to recommend to the
Board remuneration of Executive Directors in all its forms drawing from outside advice as necessary.
The said Committee comprises the following : Chairman
1.

Dato’ Seri Chia Kwang Chye

-

Independent Non-Executive Director

Members
1.

Lim Boh Soon

-

Independent Non-Executive Director

2.

Dato’ Ngiam Foon

-

Senior Independent Non-Executive Director

3.

Datuk Abdul Hamed bin Sepawi

-

Non-Independent Non-Executive Chairman

Executive Directors will play no part in decisions on their own remuneration. Determination of remuneration packages of NonExecutive Directors is a matter of the Board as a whole. The individuals concerned will abstain from discussion of their own
remuneration.
Nomination Committee
A Nomination Committee comprising exclusively Non-Executive Directors, has been appointed, with the responsibility of
proposing new nominees for appointment as Board members and for assessing Directors on an on-going basis.
The said Committee comprises the following : Chairman
1.

Lim Boh Soon

-

Independent Non-Executive Director

Members
1.

Dato’ Ngiam Foon

-

Senior Independent Non-Executive Director

2.

Dato’ Seri Chia Kwang Chye

-

Independent Non-Executive Director

3.

Datuk Abdul Hamed bin Sepawi

-

Non-Independent Non-Executive Chairman

The functions of the Nomination Committee are, inter alia, the following:a.

Recommend to the Board candidates for all directorships to be filled by the shareholders or the Board;

b.

Consider in making its recommendations candidates for directorships proposed by the Chief Executive and within the
bounds of practicability by any other senior executive or any Director or shareholder; and

c.

Recommend to the Board candidates who are Directors to fill the seats on Board committees.

Annual review will be made by the Board through the Nomination Committee of the required mixed of skills, experience and
other qualities including core competencies that Non-Executive Directors will bring to the Board.
For the financial year ended 30 September 2011, the Nomination Committee had reviewed and recommended an annual
evaluation process (including questionnaires) to the Board for their consideration. The Board had accepted and would implement
the evaluation process in the coming financial year ending 30 September 2012, through the Nomination Committee. The
Nomination Committee will carry out the evaluation process annually at the end of each financial year, for assessing the
effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the committees of the Board, and for assessing the contribution of each individual
Director.
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STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (cont’d)
Financial Reporting
The Board is aware of its responsibilities for presenting a balanced and understandable assessment of the position and prospects
of the Company each time it releases its quarterly and annual financial statements to shareholders. In this regard, the Audit
Committee on behalf of the Board assists in scrutinizing the information to be disclosed to ensure conformity with applicable
accounting standards and provisions of the Companies Act, 1965.
Relationship with the External Auditors
The Board has established formal and transparent arrangements for maintaining an appropriate relationship with the Auditors
of the Company on the basis of the link between the Audit Committee and the Auditors.
The functions of the Audit Committee include, inter alia, review of external audit plan as well as external Auditors’ Report. The
external Auditors or their representatives are among those who usually attended the Audit Committee Meetings. The Audit
Committee meets with the external Auditors without the presence of the Board members who are Executive Directors.
Internal Control
The Board, in line with safeguarding shareholders’ investments and assets of the Company, has appointed an outsourced
professional firm for the establishment of an independent internal audit function which covers not only financial control but
also that of operational aspect.
The Statement of Internal Control set out on pages 20 and 21 of this annual report provides an overview of the state of internal
controls within the Group.
This Statement was made in accordance with a resolution of the Board dated 9 January 2012.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee wss established on 20 September 2010 and comprises three (3) members of the Board, all of whom are
Independent Non-Executive Directors.
The members during the financial year ended 30 September 2011 are as follows:Chairman:

Dato’ Ngiam Foon
Senior Independent Non-Executive Director
A member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (MIA)

Member:

Dato’ Seri Chia Kwang Chye
Independent Non-Executive Director
Lim Boh Soon
Independent Non-Executive Director

MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE
The Audit Committee meets periodically to carry out its functions and duties in accordance with its Terms of Reference.
The Audit Committee held a total of three (3) meetings during the financial year ended 30 September 2011, with details of
attendance at each meeting as follows:
Names of Committee Members

No. of Meetings
Held

Attended

Dato’ Ngiam Foon

3

3

Dato’ Seri Chia Kwang Chye

3

2

Lim Boh Soon

3

3

TERMS OF REFERENCE
Purpose
The purpose of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board of Directors in fulfilling its duties and responsibilities for the financial
reporting process, system of internal control and audit process.
Composition
1.
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The Audit Committee shall be appointed by the Board of Directors from among their members (pursuant to a resolution
of the Board of Directors) and shall fulfill the following requirements:
a.

the Audit Committee must compose of not less than three (3) members;

b.

all the Audit Committee members must be non-executive directors, with a majority of them being independent
directors; and
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT (cont’d)
Composition (cont'd)
c.

At least one (1) member of the Audit Committee:i.

Must be a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants; or

ii.

If he is not a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants, he must have at least three (3) years
working experience and:(aa) He must have passed the examinations specified in Part I of the First Schedule of the Accountants Act
1967; or
(bb) He must be a member of one of the associations of accountants specified in Part II of the First
Schedule of the Accountants Act 1967; or

iii.

Fulfils such other requirements as prescribed or approved by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

2.

No alternate director shall be appointed as a member of the Audit Committee.

3.

The members of the Audit Committee shall elect a chairman from amongst themselves who shall be an independent
director.

4.

In the event of any vacancy in the Audit Committee resulting in the non-compliance of the Ace Market Listing Requirements
of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, the vacancy must be filled within three (3) months.

5.

The terms of office and performance of the Audit Committee and each of its members shall be reviewed by the Board
at least once every three (3) years.

Meetings
1.

The Audit Committee shall meet at least four (4) times in a year.

2.

A quorum shall be two (2) members with a majority of members present must be independent directors.

3.

The Chairman of the Audit Committee shall, upon the request of any member of the Audit Committee or the Board of
Directors, or the internal or external auditor, may call for a meeting of the Audit Committee.

4.

At least once a year, the Audit Committee shall meet the external auditors without presence of any other directors and
employees of the Company.

5.

Executive Directors and employees of the Company may attend any particular Audit Committee meeting only at the
Audit Committee’s invitation and is specific to the relevant meeting.

6.

The Company Secretary shall be the Secretary of the Committee.

7.

The Audit Committee shall regulate its own procedures, in particular, the calling of meetings, the notice and agenda
to be given of such meetings, the voting and proceeding of such meetings, the keeping of minutes and the custody,
production and inspection of such minutes.

8.

The Company Secretary who acts as Secretary of the Audit Committee shall circulate the minutes of each meeting to all
members of the Board.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT (cont’d)
Authority
The Audit Committee is empowered to, in accordance with the procedures determined by the Board of Directors and at the
cost of the Company:1.

investigate any matters within its Terms of Reference;

2.

have full and unrestricted access to all information in relation to the Company and its subsidiaries (“the Group”);

3.

have direct communication channels with the External Auditors and person(s) carrying out the internal audit function or
activity;

4.

obtain external independent professional advice or assistance; and

5.

convene closed meetings with the External Auditors, the Internal Auditors or both, excluding the attendance of other
directors and employees of the Company, whenever deemed necessary.

Duties and Responsibilities
The Audit Committee shall, amongst others, discharge the following duties and responsibilities:-
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1.

Review the quarterly results announcements to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and annual financial statements of the
Group prior to the approval by the Board of Directors;

2.

Review with the External Auditors on the audit plan, the evaluation of the system of internal controls, auditor’s
management letter and management response, and problems and reservation arising from the interim and final audit;

3.

Review with the Internal Auditors, adequacy of the scope, functions, competency and adequacy of resources,
authority, internal audit programmes and results, processes or investigations undertaken, the action taken on their
recommendations, adequacy of risk management system and the assessment of the performance of the outsourced
internal audit team;

4.

Review any letter of resignation from the External Auditors, reason for resignation and assistance given by the employees
to the External Auditors;

5.

Review any related party transactions and conflict of interest situations, including any transactions, procedures or course
of conduct that raises questions and management integrity;

6.

Review the effectiveness of the External Auditors, including their appointment, audit fees and any related issues;

7.

Investigate and report on any issues or concerns in regards to the management of the Company;

8.

Promptly report to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad on matters reported by the Audit Committee to the Board of
Directors of the Company which has not been satisfactorily resolved resulting in breach of the Ace Market Listing
Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

9.

Undertake such other responsibilities as may be agreed by the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors; and

10.

Verify the allocation of options granted to employees pursuant to the Employees’ Share Option Scheme.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT (cont’d)
SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
For the financial year ended 30 September 2011, the Audit Committee discharged its duties and responsibilities in accordance
with its Terms of Reference. The main areas of activities undertaken by the Audit Committee were as follows:(a)

Reviewed the quarterly financial results of the Company and made recommendations to the Board of Directors for
approval prior to release of the results to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad;

(b)

Reviewed the annual audited financial statements of the Group/Company and made relevant recommendations to the
Board of Directors for approval;

(c)

Reviewed with the External Auditors their audit plan; and

(d)

Reviewed the Audit Committee Report, Statement on Internal Control and such other documents required pursuant to
the Ace Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION
The Company recognizes that an internal audit function is essential in ensuring the effectiveness of the Group’s systems of
internal control and is an integral part of the risk management process. Subsequent to the financial year ended 30 September
2011, the Group has outsourced its internal audit function to a professional firm to provide the Board with assurance on
the adequacy and integrity of the Group’s system of internal control. In line with good corporate governance practices, the
outsourced internal audit function is independent of the activities and operations of the Group and the professional firm
conducting the internal audit function shall report directly to the Audit Committee.
This Statement was made in accordance with a resolution of the Board dated 9 January 2012.
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STATEMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board of Directors (“the Board”) of Smartag Solutions Bhd is pleased to present its Statement on Internal Control for the
financial year ended 30 September 2011, which has been prepared pursuant to Paragraph 15.26(b) of Ace Market Listing
Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”).
The Malaysian Code of Corporate Governance requires listed companies to maintain a sound system of internal controls to
safeguard shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets.
Board Responsibilities
The Board recognises the importance of maintaining a sound system of internal controls and risk management to safeguard
shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets. The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility for reviewing the adequacy
and integrity of the Company’s system of internal control, identifying principal risks and establishing an appropriate control
environment and framework to manage risks and evaluating the Group’s operational effectiveness and efficiency.
Risk Management Process
The Board acknowledges that the Group’s business activities involve some degree of risk that may affect the achievement of
its business objectives and an effective risk management process should be an integral part of the Group’s daily operations.
Accordingly, the Board has endeavoured to identify the relevant major risks faced by the Group on a regular basis and has
implemented a system of internal controls in order to monitor these risks so as to ensure that the Group achieves its business
objectives.
Key risks relating to the Group’s strategic plan and operations are discussed, reviewed and evaluated by the Board and
management. It is the responsibility of key management and Heads of Department to identify, evaluate and manage risks
faced by the Group on an ongoing basis within defined parameters. The deliberation of risks and related mitigating responses
are carried out at the periodic management meetings attended by Executive Directors and key management staff. Significant
risks are communicated to the Board at their scheduled meetings.
The abovementioned practices and initiatives by the management serve as an on-going process adopted by the Group to
identify, evaluate and manage risks faced by the Group.
Internal Controls
The Group has put in place the following key elements of internal controls:-
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(i)

The Board Committee members are given authority to investigate and report on any areas of improvement for the
Group.

(ii)

Arranging board meetings between the External Auditors, Internal Auditors and other consultants to identify and rectify
any weaknesses in the system of internal controls. The Board would also be informed on the matters brought up at the
Audit Committee meetings on a timely basis.

(iii)

Monitoring key commercial, operational and financial risks through reviewing the system of internal controls and other
operational structures so as to ensure that reasonable assurance on the effectiveness and efficiency of the same will
mitigate the various risks faced by the Group to an appropriate level acceptable to the Board.

(iv)

Reviewing and updating the Group’s policies and procedures as and when appropriate, which set out guidelines and
expected standards for the Group’s operations, so as to maintain effectiveness at all times. Keeping the employee
(Management) updated on the changes in the Group’s policies and procedures on a regular basis.

(v)

The Executive Directors are closely involved in the running of the business and operations of the Group and they report
to the Board and keep the Board informed and updated on significant changes in the business and external environment,
which affect the operations of the Group at large.

(vi)

Review of quarterly and annual financial results by the Audit Committee.

(vii)

Review the adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal control, with the assistance of the internal audit
function.
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STATEMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL (cont’d)
Internal Audit Function
The outsourced internal audit functions support the Board in an independent capacity to examine and evaluate the Group’s
business and operational processes, assess compliance with policies and procedures as well as relevant laws and regulations,
and provide a reasonable assurance that the internal control system is adequate, effective and functional. The internal auditors
provide reports on issues relating to internal controls and the associated risks together with recommendations for appropriate
actions to the Audit Committee.
This Statement was made in accordance with a resolution of the Board dated 9 January 2012.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
The Board of Directors’ confirms its responsibility for preparation of the Annual Audited Financial Statements to ensure that
the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at the end of the
accounting period and of the operations results and cash flows for the financial year then ended. In preparing the financial
statements, the Directors have ensured that the applicable approved accounting standards in Malaysia and the provisions of
the Companies Act, 1965 have been applied. In preparing the financial statements, the Directors have selected and applied
consistently suitable accounting policies and made reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.
The Directors are responsible for ensuring that proper accounting records are kept, which disclose with reasonable accuracy
at any time the financial position of the Group and the Company and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements
comply with the applicable approved accounting standards in Malaysia and the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965. The
Directors also have a general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the
Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.
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ADDITIONAL COMPLIANCE INFORMATION
1.0

Utilisation of Proceeds
Smartag Solutions Berhad was listed on 18 April 2011 on the ACE Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The status
of the utilisation of the gross proceeds of RM17.67 million raised from the public issue pursuant to the listing of the
Company on the Ace Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad as at 31 December 2011 are as follows:Purposes

Proposed
Utilisation
RM’ 000

Amount
Utilised
RM’ 000

Balance
Unutilised
RM’ 000

Timeframe for
Utilisation

Project Related Capital Expenditure

8,835

8,835

-

Within three (3) years
from date of listing

R & D Expenditure and R&D Related
Capital Expenditure

3,357

242

3,115

Within two (2) years
from date of listing

Working capital

3,534

1,836

1,698

Within two (2) years
from date of listing

Estimated listing expenses

1,944

1,905

17,670

12,818

Total

39*

Within six (6) months
from date of listing

4,852

Note:

*

2.0

In view that the actual listing expenses were lower than estimated, the excess will be utilized for working capital
purposes.

Share Buy-back
There was no share buy-back during the financial year ended 30 September 2011.

3.0

Options, Warrants or Convertible Securities
There were no options, warrants or convertible securities in issue during the financial year ended 30 September 2011.

4.0

Employees Share Option Scheme
Not applicable.

5.0

Depository Receipt Programme
The Company did not sponsor any depository receipt programme during the financial year.

6.0

Sanctions and/or Penalties
There were no sanctions and/or penalties imposed on the Company and its subsidiaries, Directors or management by the
relevant regulatory bodies.

7.0

Non-Audit Fees
During the financial year ended 30 September 2011, the Company had incurred RM54,400 to the External Auditors, who
was the Reporting Accountant pursuant to the Company’s listing exercise.
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ADDITIONAL COMPLIANCE INFORMATION (cont’d)
8.0

Variation of Results
There is no material deviation between the results for the financial year ended 30 September 2011 and the unaudited
results previously announced.
There was no profit estimate, forecast or projection released by the Company for the financial year.

9.0

Profit Guarantee
There was no profit guarantee given by the Company during the financial year ended 30 September 2011.

10.0 Material Contracts
During the financial year, there were no material contracts entered into by the Group involving its Directors’ and major
shareholders’ interest.
11.0 Revaluation Policy on Landed Properties
The Company does not have a revaluation policy in respect of its landed properties.
12.0 Recurrent Related Party Transactions of Revenue or Trading Nature (“RRPT”)
There were no RRPT conducted pursuant to the shareholders’ mandate during the financial year ended 30 September
2011.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
The Group recognises that its business operations have direct and indirect impact on the communities and therefore engaging
and adopting Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) is one of the commitment of the Group. Being a public listed company, the
Group upholds its responsibility to oblige to the statutory compliance of CSR and extend it further by implementing various
measures to play its part for the society.
In this respect, the Group provides its employees a quality work environment which complies with the health and safety
standards as we understand a good working environment would raise the efficiency and productivity of employees besides
improving the quality of life of our employees. We also provide training to employees to enhance their skills and abilities which
would offer excellent opportunities for career development.
The Group also understands the importance, impact and implications its businesses have on the environment as a whole and
we strive towards some best environmental practices in our operations to conserve and minimise the impact to our Mother
Nature.
(i)

Paperless environment
Staffs are encouraged to fully maximize the benefits of ICT (eg email, instant messaging, etc.) for communication and
only print hard copy when necessary. Moreover, in line with our aim to lower carbon footprints, the Company will make
its annual report available in softcopy on Bursa Securities and the Company’s website.

(ii)

Recycling
Staffs are encouraged to print on both sides of the papers to minimize paper usage while unwanted papers and
recyclable items are collected and sent to be recycled. This initiative is in place to support the government’s Go Green
effort.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The directors hereby submit their report together with the audited financial statements of Smartag Solutions Berhad (“the
Company”) and its subsidiary companies (“the Group”) for the financial year ended 30th September 2011.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is principally engaged in the distribution, research, design and deployment of radio frequency identity tags and
other tagging solutions using broadband networks and provision of training, instrumentation, systems integration, maintenance
and consultancy services. The principal activities of its subsidiary companies are disclosed in Note 4 to the financial statements.
There have been no significant changes in the nature of these principal activities during the financial year.
RESULTS

Net loss for the financial year

Group

Company

RM

RM

(1,699,211)

Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Total comprehensive loss for the financial year

22,314

(1,682,632)
-

(1,676,897)

(1,682,632)

Owner of the Company

(1,693,528)

(1,682,632)

Non-controlling interest

(5,683)

Net loss for the financial year attributable to:
-

(1,699,211)

(1,682,632)

(1,671,214)

(1,682,632)

Total comprehensive loss for the financial year
attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interest

(5,683)
(1,676,897)

(1,682,632)

DIVIDENDS
No dividend was paid or declared by the Company since the end of the previous financial year.
The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividends in respect of the financial year ended 30th September 2011.
RESERVES AND PROVISIONS
All material transfers to and from reserves and provisions during the financial year have been disclosed in the financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (cont’d)
BAD AND DOUBTFUL DEBTS
Before the statements of comprehensive income and statements of financial position of the Group and of the Company were
made out, the directors took reasonable steps to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off
of bad debts and the making of allowance for impairment, and had satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been
written off and adequate allowance had been made for impairment.
At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances that would render the amount written off for bad
debts or the amount of the allowance for impairment in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company inadequate
to any substantial extent.
CURRENT ASSETS
Before the statements of comprehensive income and statements of financial position of the Group and of the Company were
made out, the directors took reasonable steps to ensure that any current assets, other than debts, which were unlikely to be
realised in the ordinary course of business, their values as shown in the accounting records of the Group and of the Company
had been written down to an amount that they might be expected to be realised.
At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances that would render the values attributed to the
current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company misleading.
VALUATION METHODS
At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which render adherence to the
existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate.
CONTINGENT AND OTHER LIABILITIES
At the date of this report, there does not exist:(i)

any charge on the assets of the Group and of the Company that have arisen since the end of the financial year which
secures the liabilities of any other person, or

(ii)

any contingent liability in respect of the Group and of the Company that have arisen since the end of the financial year.

No contingent liability or other liability of the Group and of the Company have become enforceable, or is likely to become
enforceable within the year of twelve months after the end of the financial year which, in the opinion of the directors, will
or may substantially affect the ability of the Group and of the Company to meet their obligations as and when they fall due.
CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES
At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances, not otherwise dealt with in this report or the
financial statements of the Group and of the Company that would render any amount stated in the financial statements
misleading.
ITEMS OF AN UNUSUAL NATURE
The results of the operation of the Group and of the Company for the financial year were not, in the opinion of the directors,
substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of material and unusual nature.
No item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year
and the date of this report which is likely to affect substantially the results of the operations of the Group and of the Company
for the financial year in which this report is made.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (cont’d)
ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES
On 18th April 2011, the Company was listed on the ACE Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and had made a public
issue of 57,000,000 ordinary shares at issue price of RM0.31 each (“Public Issue”). The total proceeds from Public Issue was
RM17,670,000/-.
The Company’s Public Issue has increased its issued and fully paid share capital from RM17,000,000/- to RM22,700,000/- by
capitalising a sum of RM5,7000,000/- for 57,000,000 ordinary shares of RM0.10 each in the share capital of the Company.
The new shares rank pari-passu with the existing shares of the Company.
The Company did not issue any debentures during the financial year.
DIRECTORS
The names of the directors of the Company in office since the date of the last report are:Lim Peng Keong
Choong Huck Liang
Datuk Abdul Hamed Bin Sepawi
Dato' Seri Chia Kwang Chye
Dato' Ngiam Foon
Dr. Lim Boh Soon
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
According to the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings kept by the Company under Section 134 of the Companies Act, 1965,
the interests of those directors who held office at the end of the financial year in shares in the Company during the financial
year ended 30th September 2011 are as follows:Number of ordinary shares of RM0.10 each
At

At

1.10.2010

Bought

Sold

30.9.2011

The Company
Direct Interest
Lim Peng Keong

26,520,000

-

-

26,520,000

Choong Huck Liang

25,330,000

-

-

25,330,000

Datuk Abdul Hamed Bin Sepawi

51,000,000

-

-

51,000,000

Dr Lim Boh Soon

-

100,000

-

100,000

Dato' Ngiam Foon

-

100,000

-

100,000

11,050,000

1,500,000

(12,550,000)

-

Indirect Interest
Lim Peng Keong - others*
*

Lim Peng Keong's spouse is having indirect interest in the Company via Namnan Co. Ltd and is disclosed as the indirect
interest of Lim Peng Keong in the Company in compliance with the statutory requirements of Section 134(12)(c) of the
Companies Act, 1965. However, based on Section 6A(4) of the Act, Lim Peng Keong is not a person deemed to have
interest in the shares of the Company held by Namnan Co. Ltd (and indirectly his spouse) as both Lim Peng Keong and his
spouse exercise independent control over their respective shareholdings in the Company.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the directors in office at the end of the financial year had any interest in the Company
and its related corporations during the financial year.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (cont’d)
DIRECTORS' BENEFITS
Since the end of the previous financial year, no director of the Company has received or become entitled to receive a benefit
(other than benefits included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by the directors shown
in the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the director or with a
firm of which the director is a member, or with a company in which the director has a substantial financial interest.
Neither during nor at the end of the financial year was the Company or any of its related corporations a party to any
arrangement whose object was to enable the directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR
Details of significant events during the financial year are disclosed in Note 25 to the financial statements.
AUDITORS
The auditors, Messrs Baker Tilly Monteiro Heng, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.
On behalf of the Board,

……………………………………………..................……….
CHOONG HUCK LIANG
Director

……………………………………………..................……….
LIM PENG KEONG
Director
Kuala Lumpur
Date: 9th January 2012
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30TH SEPTEMBER 2011

Group
Note

Company

2011

2010

2011

2010

RM

RM

RM

RM

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

3

14,297,760

7,315,779

14,280,450

7,289,880

Investment in subsidiary companies

4

-

-

-

-

Investment in a jointly controlled entity

5

5,000,666

5,002,616

5,015,000

5,015,000

Goodwill on consolidation

6

-

-

-

-

Intangible assets

7

4,939,917

4,232,417

4,939,917

4,232,417

24,238,343

16,550,812

24,235,367

16,537,297

Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventories

8

44,937

63,118

44,937

63,118

Trade receivables

9

110,244

11,610,528

110,244

11,610,528

Other receivables, deposits and prepayment

9

255,600

42,788

253,600

28,988

-

-

-

-

889

-

889

-

12,971,293

18,000

12,971,293

18,000

Amount owing by subsidiary companies

9 , 10

Tax recoverable
Fixed deposits placed with licensed banks

9 , 11

Cash and bank balances

9 , 11

6,679,873

943,031

6,654,387

925,962

Total current assets

20,062,836

12,677,465

20,035,350

12,646,596

TOTAL ASSETS

44,301,179

29,228,277

44,270,717

29,183,893

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to owners of the
Company
Share capital

12

22,700,000

17,000,000

22,700,000

17,000,000

Retained profits

13

9,970,150

11,573,025

9,967,282

11,649,914

Reserves

14

11,285,746

5,717

11,257,715

-

43,955,896

28,578,742

43,924,997

28,649,914

-

-

-

43,936,998

28,578,742

43,924,997

28,649,914

Shareholders' funds
Non-controlling interests

(18,898)

Total equity
Current liabilities
Trade payables

15

39,931

39,931

39,145

39,145

Other payables and accruals

15

324,250

609,536

306,575

494,766

-

68

-

68

364,181

649,535

345,720

533,979

44,301,179

29,228,277

44,270,717

29,183,893

Tax payable
Total liabilities
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME			
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30TH SEPTEMBER 2011

Group
Note

2011

2010

2011

2010

RM

RM

RM

RM

5,898,380

22,769,460

5,898,380

22,769,460

Cost of sales

(3,481,523)

(9,808,157)

(3,481,523)

(9,808,157)

Gross profit

2,416,857

12,961,303

2,416,857

12,961,303

285,659

1,406,589

285,659

1,406,589

Revenue

16

Company

Other operating income
Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses
Other expenses

(351,186)

(375,145)

(351,186)

(375,145)

(4,024,895)

(3,615,352)

(4,010,266)

(2,964,950)

-

Finance cost
Share of result of a jointly controlled entity
(Loss)/profit before taxation

17

Taxation

18

Net (loss)/profit for the financial year

(8,304)

(23,696)

(8,450)

(1,950)

(12,384)

(1,699,211)

10,348,257

(1,699,211)

(1,309)
10,346,948

(23,696)
(1,682,632)
(1,682,632)

(819,068)
(8,450)
10,200,279
(1,309)
10,198,970

Other comprehensive income, net of tax
- Foreign currency translation on foreign entity

22,314

8,119

-

-

Total comprehensive (loss)/ income for the
financial year

(1,676,897)

10,355,067

(1,682,632)

10,198,970

Owners of the Company

(1,693,528)

10,346,948

(1,682,632)

10,198,970

Non-controlling interests

(5,683)

-

(1,699,211)

10,346,948

(1,682,632)

10,198,970

Owners of the Company

(1,671,214)

10,355,067

(1,682,632)

10,198,970

Non-controlling interests

(5,683)

-

(1,676,897)

10,355,067

- basic

(0.86)

6.09

- diluted

(0.86)

6.09

Net (loss)/profit for the financial year
attributable to:
-

-

Total comprehensive (loss)/ income for the
financial year attributable to:

(Loss)/profit per ordinary share (sen):

19

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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(1,682,632)

10,198,970

4

Deemed disposal stake of a subsidiary

-

22,700,000

5,700,000

-

-

5,700,000

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

At 30th September 2011

Total transactions with owners

14

12 , 14

Share issuance expenses

Issuance of shares

Transactions with owners:

Total comprehensive loss for the financial year

17,000,000

At 30th September 2010/1st October 2010

15,000,000
15,000,000

12

11,257,715

11,257,715

-

(712,285)

11,970,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

RM

RM

-

Premium

Capital

2,000,000

Share

Share

Total transactions with owners

Bonus issue

Transactions with owners:

Total comprehensive income for the financial year

At 1st October 2009

Group

Note

Non-distributable

9,970,150

90,653

90,653

-

-

(1,693,528)

11,573,025

(15,000,000)

(15,000,000)

10,346,948

16,226,077

RM

Profits

Retained

28,031

-

-

-

-

22,314

5,717

-

-

8,119

(2,402)

RM

Translation

Currency

Foreign

Distributable distributable

Non-

Attributable to Owners of the Company

43,955,896

17,048,368

90,653

(712,285)

17,670,000

(1,671,214)

28,578,742

-

-

10,355,067

18,223,675

RM

Total

Non-

-

-

-

-

-

(18,898)

(13,215)

(13,215)

-

-

(5,683)

RM

Interests

Controlling

43,936,998

17,035,153

77,438

(712,285)

17,670,000

(1,676,897)

28,578,742

-

-

10,355,067

18,223,675

RM

Equity

Total

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30TH SEPTEMBER 2011
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (cont’d)
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30TH SEPTEMBER 2011

Attributable to Owners of the Company
Non-distributable
Note

Distributable

Share

Share

Retained

Capital

Premium

Profits

Total

RM

RM

RM

RM

Company
At 1st October 2009

2,000,000

-

16,450,944

18,450,944

-

-

10,198,970

10,198,970

15,000,000

-

(15,000,000)

-

Total transactions with owners

15,000,000

-

(15,000,000)

-

At 30th September 2010

17,000,000

-

11,649,914

28,649,914

-

-

(1,682,632)

(1,682,632)

5,700,000

11,970,000

Total comprehensive income for the
financial year
Transactions with owners:
Bonus issue

12

Total comprehensive loss for the
financial year
Transactions with owners:
Issuance of shares
Share issuance expenses
Total transactions with owners
At 30th September 2011

12 , 14
14

-

(712,285)

-

17,670,000
(712,285)

5,700,000

11,257,715

-

16,957,715

22,700,000

11,257,715

9,967,282

43,924,997

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30TH SEPTEMBER 2011

Group

Company

2011

2010

2011

2010

RM

RM

RM

RM

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
(Loss)/profit before taxation

(1,699,211)

10,348,257

(1,682,632)

10,200,279

Adjustments for:
Allowance for impairment on amount owing by
subsidiary companies
Deposit written off
Depreciation
Dilution in equity interests

-

-

134,107

321,950

400

12,500

400

12,500

167,387

141,961

158,798

133,034

77,088

-

-

-

-

-

-

819,068

Impairment loss on investment in subsidiary
companies
Impairment loss on goodwill
Interest expenses
Interest income

-

864,230

-

-

23,696

8,450

23,696

8,450

(271,792)

(6,120)

(271,792)

(6,120)

Property, plant and equipment written off

3,526

Share of result of a jointly controlled entity

1,950

Unrealised (gain)/loss on foreign exchange

23,614
12,384

3,526
-

23,614
-

(23)

84,804

(13,844)

118,931

(1,696,979)

11,490,080

(1,647,741)

11,631,706

Changes in working capital:
Inventories

21,613

Receivables

11,287,095

Payables

(285,286)
9,326,443

Tax paid
Net Operating Cash Flows

(957)
9,325,486

50,655

21,613

18,305,359

11,289,116

(14,462,764)
15,383,330
7,063
15,390,393

(188,191)
9,474,797
(957)
9,473,840

50,655
18,274,158
(14,449,682)
15,506,837
(1,241)
15,505,596

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Product development costs incurred
Interest received

(707,500)

(3,446,617)

271,792

6,120

-

-

(707,500)

(3,446,617)

271,792

6,120

(134,107)

(43,995)

Net changes in amount owing by subsidiary
companies
Investment in a jointly controlled entity
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Net Investing Cash Flows

-

(5,015,000)

-

(5,015,000)

(7,156,326)

(6,608,165)

(7,156,326)

(6,602,955)

(7,592,034)

(15,063,662)

(7,726,141)

(15,102,447)
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (cont’d)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30TH SEPTEMBER 2011

Group

Company

2011

2010

2011

2010

RM

RM

RM

RM

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Interest paid
Proceeds from issuance of shares, net

(23,696)
16,957,715

(8,450)
(8,450)

(23,696)
16,957,715
16,934,019

(8,450)
-

Net Financing Cash Flows

16,934,019

(8,450)

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

18,667,471

318,281

18,681,718

394,699

EFFECTS OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE TRANSLATION

22,664

8,119

-

-

961,031

634,631

943,962

549,263

19,651,166

961,031

19,625,680

943,962

12,971,293

18,000

12,971,293

18,000

6,679,873

943,031

6,654,387

925,962

19,651,166

961,031

19,625,680

943,962

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING
OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END
OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Fixed deposits placed with licensed banks
Cash and bank balances

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION
The Company is principally engaged in the distribution, research, design and deployment of radio frequency identity tag
and other tagging solutions using broadband networks and provision of training, instrumentation, systems integration,
maintenance and consultancy services. The principal activities of its subsidiary companies are disclosed in Note 4 to the
financial statements. There have been no significant changes in the nature of these principal activities during the financial
year.
The Company is a public limited company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia, and is listed on Access, Certainty and
Efficiency (“ACE”) Market of Bursa Securities Berhad.
The registered office of the Company is located at Suite 2-1, 2nd Floor Menara Penang Garden, 42A Jalan Sultan Ahmad
Shah, 10050 Penang.
The principal place of business of the Company is located at 368-4-1, Bellisa Row, Jalan Burmah, Georgetown 10350
Penang.
The financial statements are expressed in Ringgit Malaysia.
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the board of directors in accordance with a resolution of the
directors on 9th January 2012.

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1

Basis of Preparation
The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with the Financial
Reporting Standards (“FRSs”) and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.
The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared under the historical cost basis,
except as disclosed in the significant accounting policies in Note 2.3 to the financial statements.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of the revenue and expenses
during the reported financial period. It also requires directors’ best knowledge of current events and actions, and
therefore actual results may differ.
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement of complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 2.4 to the financial statements.

2.2

New and Revised FRSs, Amendments/Improvements to FRSs and IC Interpretations (“IC Int”) and
Amendments to IC Int
(a)

Adoption of New and Revised FRSs, Amendments/Improvements to FRSs and IC Int and Amendments
to IC Int
The Group and the Company had adopted the following new and revised FRSs, amendments/improvements
to FRSs, IC Int and amendments to IC Int that are relevant to their operations and are mandatory effective
for the current financial year:Amendments/Improvements to FRSs
FRS 1

First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards

FRS 2

Share-based Payment

FRS 3

Business Combinations

FRS 7

Financial Instruments: Disclosures

FRS 101

Presentation of Financial Statements
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.2

New and Revised FRSs, Amendments/Improvements to FRSs, IC Interpretations (“IC Int”) and Amendments
to IC Int (Continued)
(a)

Adoption of New and Revised FRSs, Amendments/Improvements to FRSs, IC Int and Amendments
to IC Int (Continued)
Amendments/Improvements to FRSs
FRS 121

The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates

FRS 128

Investment in Associates

FRS 131

Interests in Joint Ventures

FRS 132

Financial Instruments: Presentation

FRS 134

Interim Financial Reporting

FRS 139

Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

IC Int
IC Int 9

Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

IC Int 10

Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment

IC Int 11

FRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions

IC Int 13

Customer Loyalty Programmes

Amendments to IC Int
IC Int 9

Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

IC Int 14

FRS 119 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and
Their Interaction

Adoption of the above standards and interpretations did not have any effect on the financial performance
or position of the Group and of the Company except for those as discussed below:FRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
Prior to 1st January 2010, information about financial instruments was disclosed in accordance with the
requirements of FRS 132 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation. FRS 7 introduces new disclosure
to improve the information about financial instruments. It requires the disclosure of qualitative and quantitative information about exposure to risks arising from financial instruments, including specified minimum disclosures about credit risk, liquidity risk and market price risk. As the change in accounting policy only results
in additional disclosures, there is no impact on earnings per share.
The Group and the Company have applied FRS 7 prospectively in accordance with the transitional provisions.
Hence, the new disclosures have not been applied to the comparatives. The new disclosures are included
throughout the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements for the financial year ended 30th September
2011.
FRS 101 Presentation of Financial Statements (revised)
The revised FRS 101 introduces changes in the presentation and disclosures of financial statements. The
revised Standard separates owner and non-owner changes in equity. The statement of changes in equity
includes only details of transactions with owners, with all non-owner changes in equity presented as a
single line. The Standard also introduces the statement of comprehensive income, with all items of income
and expenses recognised in profit or loss, together with all other items of recognised income and expense
recognised directly in equity, either in one single statement, or in two linked statements. The Group and the
Company have elected to present this statement as one single statement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.2

New and Revised FRSs, Amendments/Improvements to FRSs, IC Interpretations (“IC Int”) and Amendments
to IC Int (Continued)
(a)

Adoption of New and Revised FRSs, Amendments/Improvements to FRSs, IC Int and Amendments
to IC Int (Continued)
FRS 101 Presentation of Financial Statements (revised) (Continued)
In addition, a statement of financial position is required at the beginning of the earliest comparative period
following a change in accounting policy, the correction of an error or the classification of items in the
financial statements.
The revised FRS 101 also requires the Group and the Company to make new disclosures to enable users of
the financial statements to evaluate the Group’s and the Company’s objectives, policies and processes for
managing capital.
The revised FRS 101 was adopted retrospectively by the Group and the Company. Since the change only
affects presentation aspects, there is no impact on earnings per share.
FRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
FRS 139 establishes principles for recognising and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities and
some contracts to buy and sell non-financial items. The Group and the Company have adopted FRS 139
prospectively on 1st October 2010 in accordance with the transitional provisions.
The adoptions of this Standard do not have a significant effect on the financial statements of the Group and
of the Company.
FRS 3 Business Combinations
The revised FRS 3 introduces a number of changes to the accounting for business combinations that will
impact the amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results in the period that an acquisition occurs, and
future reported results. Changes in significant accounting policies resulting from the early adoption of the
revised FRS 3 include:
-

Transaction costs would no longer be capitalised as part of the cost of acquisition but will be expensed
immediately;
Consideration contingent on future events are recognised at fair value on the acquisition date and any
changes in the amount of consideration to be paid will no longer be adjusted against goodwill but
recognised in profit or loss;
The Group elects, for each acquisition of a business, whether to measure non-controlling interests
(previously described as minority interests) at fair value, or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate
share of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets, and this impacts the amount of goodwill recognised;
When a business is acquired in stages, the previously held equity interests in the acquire are remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date with any corresponding gain or loss recognised in profit
or loss, and this impacts the amount of goodwill recognised.

According to its transitional provisions, the revised FRS 3 has been applied prospectively. Assets and liabilities
that arose from business combinations whose acquisition dates are before 1 July 2010 are not adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.2

New and Revised FRSs, Amendments/Improvements to FRSs, IC Interpretations (“IC Int”) and Amendments
to IC Int (Continued)
(a)

Adoption of New and Revised FRSs, Amendments/Improvements to FRSs, IC Int and Amendments
to IC Int (Continued)
FRS 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
Changes in significant accounting policies resulting from the adoption of the revised FRS127 include:
-

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary that does not result in a loss of control, is accounted
for as an equity transaction. Therefore, such a change will have no impact on goodwill, nor will it give
rise to a gain or loss.
Losses incurred by a subsidiary are allocated to the non-controlling interest even if the losses exceed
the non-controlling interest in the subsidiary’s equity, and
When control over a subsidiary is lost, any interest retained is measured at fair value with the
corresponding gain or loss recognised in profit or loss.

According to its transitional provisions, the revised FRS127 has been applied prospectively, and does not
impact the Group’s consolidated financial statements in respect of transactions with non-controlling interest,
attribution of losses to non-controlling interest, and disposal of subsidiaries before 1 July 2010. The changes
will affect future transactions with non-controlling interest.
(b)

New and Revised FRSs, Amendments/Improvements to FRSs, IC Int and Amendments to IC Int that
are issued, not yet effective and have not been adopted early
The Group and the Company have not adopted the following new and revised FRSs, amendments/
improvements to FRSs, IC Int and amendments to IC Int that have been issued as at the date of authorisation
of these financial statements but are not yet effective for the Group and the Company:Effective for financial
periods beginning on
or after
Revised FRSs
FRS 124

Related Party Disclosures

1 January 2012

IC Int 4

Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease

1 January 2011

IC Int 12

Service Concession Arrangements

1 July 2010

IC Int 15

Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate

1 January 2012

IC Int 16

Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

1 July 2010

IC Int 17

Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

1 July 2010

IC Int 18

Transfers of Assets from Customers

1 January 2011

IC Int 19

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments

1 July 2011

IC Int

Amendment to IC Int
IC Int 9

Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives

1 July 2010

IC Int 13

Customer Royalty Programmes

1 January 2011

IC Int 14

FRS 119 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum
Funding Requirements and Their Interaction

1 July 2011

IC Int 15

Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate

30 August 2010

The directors do not anticipate that the application of the above new and revised FRSs, amendments/
improvements to FRSs, IC Int and amendments to IC Int, when they are effective, will have a material impact
on the results and the financial position of the Group and of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.3

Significant Accounting Policies
The following accounting policies have been used consistently in dealing with items which are considered material
in relation to the financial statements:(a)

Basis of Consolidation and Subsidiary Companies
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
as at the reporting date. The financial statements of the subsidiaries used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements are prepared for the same reporting date as the Company. Consistent
accounting policies are applied to like transactions and events in similar circumstances.
All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full.
Acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for by applying the purchase method. Identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date. Adjustments to those fair values relating to previously held interests
are treated as a revaluation and recognised in the other comprehensive income. The cost of a business
combination is measured as the aggregate of the fair values, and equity instruments issued, plus any cost
directly attributable to the business combination. Any excess of the cost of business combination over the
Group’s share in the net fair value of the acquired subsidiary’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities is recorded as goodwill on the statement of financial position. The accounting policy for goodwill
is set out in Note 2.3(c)(i). Any excess of the Group’s share in the net fair value of the acquired subsidiary’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of business combination is recognised
as income in profit or loss on the date of acquisition. When the Group acquires a business, embedded
derivatives separated from the host contract by the acquire are reassessed on acquisition date unless the
business combination results in a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash
flows that would otherwise be required under the contract.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date such control ceases.
Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to owners
of the Company, and is presented separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and
within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, separately from equity attributable to
owners of the Company.
Changes in the Company owners’ ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control
are accounted for as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying amounts of the controlling and
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

(b)

Property, Plant and Equipment and Depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if
any. The policy for the recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 2.3(k).
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. When significant parts
of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate
items of property, plant and equipment.
The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount
of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group
and its cost can be measured reliably. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment
are recognised in the profit or loss as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.3

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(b)

Property, Plant and Equipment and Depreciation (Continued)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated to write off the cost of each asset on a straight
line basis over their expected useful lives at the following annual rate:Office building
Computers
IT Equipment

2%
33.33%
10% - 20%

Office equipment and furniture and fittings

10%

Renovation

10%

Motor vehicle

20%

IT equipment under installation and work-in progress are not depreciated as these assets are not available
for use.
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
at each reporting date to ensure that the amounts, method and period of depreciation are consistent with
previous estimates and the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in
these items of property, plant and equipment. The effects of any revisions of the residual values and useful
lives are included in the profit or loss for the financial year in which the changes arise.
Fully depreciated assets are retained in the accounts until the assets are no longer in use.
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication of impairment. If such indications
exist, an analysis is performed to assess whether the carrying amount of the asset is fully recoverable. A write
down is made if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset is
included in the profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised.
(c)

Jointly Controlled Entity
The Group has an interest in a joint venture which is a jointly controlled entity. A joint venture is a contractual
arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake an economic activity that is subject to joint control,
and a jointly controlled entity is a joint venture that involves the establishment of a separate entity in which
each venturer has an interest.
Investment in jointly controlled entity is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting.
In the Company’s separate financial statements, investment in jointly controlled entity is stated at cost less
impairment losses. The policy for the recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance
with Note 2.3(k).
On disposal of such investments, the difference between net disposal proceeds and their carrying amounts
is included in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.3

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(d)

Intangible Assets
(i)

Goodwill on consolidation and gain on a bargain purchase
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of business combination over the fair value of the Group’s
share of the identifiable net assets at the date of acquisition. Gain on a bargain purchase represents
the excess of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets over the cost of the business combination
as at the date of the acquisition.
Following the initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The
policy for the recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 2.3(k).
Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed.
Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the
entity sold.
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is
made to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the business combination in which the goodwill arose.

(ii)

Research and Development Costs
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Deferred development costs arising from development
expenditures on an individual project are recognised when the Group can demonstrate the technical
feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to
complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits,
the availability of resources to complete and the ability to measure reliably the expenditures during
development.
The product development costs are not amortised as the asset is not available for use.
Impairment is assessed whenever there is an indication of impairment and the amortisation period
and method are also reviewed at least at each reporting date. The policy for the recognition and
measurement of impairment losses is in accordance with Note 2.3(k).

(e)

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories comprises cost of
purchase and incidental costs in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Cost being
determined on the fist-in, first-out basis. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs to completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale.

(f)

Financial Instruments
Financial instruments are recognised in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Group
and the Company become a party to the contract provisions of the financial instrument.
A financial instrument is recognised initially, at its fair value, plus, in the case of a financial instrument not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
the financial instrument.
An embedded derivative is recognised separately from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative if,
and only if, it is not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract and the host
contract is not categorised at fair value through profit or loss. The host contract, the event an embedded
derivative is recognised separately, is accounted for in accordance with policy applicable to the nature of the
host contract.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.3

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(f)

Financial Instruments (Continued)
The Group and the Company categorise the financial instruments as follows:(i)

Financial Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets are classified as fair value through profit or loss if they are held for trading, including
derivatives, or are designated as such upon initial recognition.
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at
fair value with the gain or loss recognised in profit or loss. Exchange differences, interest and dividend
income on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised as other gains or losses in
the profit or loss.
Loans and receivables
Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market, trade
and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents are classified as loans and receivables.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and
receivables are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.
Held-to-maturity investments
Financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that are quoted in an active
market and the Company have the positive intention and ability to hold the investment to maturity is
classified as held-to-maturity.
Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the held-tomaturity investments are derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.
Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial are financial assets that are designated as available for sale or are not
classified in any of the three preceding categories.
After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value with the gain or
loss recognised in other comprehensive income, except for impairment losses, foreign exchange gains
and losses on monetary instruments and interest calculated using the effective interest method are
recognised in profit or loss. The cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment when the financial
asset is derecognised.
Investments in equity instruments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost
less impairment loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.3

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(f)

Financial Instruments (Continued)
(ii)

Financial Liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost other than those categorised as fair
value through profit or loss.
Fair value through profit or loss comprises financial liabilities that are held for trading, derivatives
(except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging
instrument) or financial liabilities that are specifically designated as fair value through profit or loss
upon initial recognition.
Derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of unquoted equity instruments whose
fair values cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost.
Other financial liabilities categorised as fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at
their fair values with the gain or loss recognised in profit or loss.

(iii)

Financial Guarantee Contracts
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due
in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contracts are classified as deferred income and are amortised to profit or loss
over the contractual period or, upon discharge of the guarantee. When settlement of a financial
guarantee contract becomes probable, an estimate of the obligation is made. If the carrying value
of the financial guarantee contract is lower than the obligation, the carrying value is adjusted to the
obligation amount and accounted for as a provision.

(iv)

Regular Way Purchase or Sale of Financial Assets
A regular way purchase or sale is a purchase or sale of a financial asset under a contract whose terms
require delivery of the asset within the time frame established generally by regulation or convention
the marketplace concerned.
A regular way purchase or sale of financial asset is recognised and derecognised, as applicable, using
trade date accounting. Trade date accounting refers to:
•
•

(v)

the recognition of an asset to be received and the liability to pay for it on the trade date, and
derecognition of an asset that is sold, recognition of any gain or loss on disposal and the
recognition of a receivable from the buyer for payment on the trade date.

Derecognition
A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has
expired or is transferred to another party without retaining control or substantially all risks and rewards
of the asset. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in
other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss.
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or
cancelled or expires. On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying
amount and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.3

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(g)

Provisions for Liabilities
Provisions for liabilities are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event,
when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation, and when a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Where the Group expects a provision
to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement
is virtually certain. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. Provisions are reviewed at each
reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Where the effect of the time value of
money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate,
the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage
of time is recognised as finance cost.

(h)

Equity Instruments
Ordinary shares are recorded at the nominal value and the consideration in excess of nominal value of shares
issued, if any, is accounted for as share premium. Both ordinary shares and share premium are classified as
equity.
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as liabilities when proposed or declared before the reporting
date. A dividend proposed or declared after the reporting date, but before the financial statements are
authorised for issue, is not recognised as a liability at the reporting date.
Cost incurred directly attributable to the issuance of the shares are accounted for as a deduction from share
premium, if any, otherwise it is charged to the profit or loss. Equity transaction costs comprise only those
incremental external costs directly attributable to the equity transaction which would otherwise have been
avoided.

(i)

Taxation
The tax expense in the statements of comprehensive income represents the aggregate amount of current
tax and deferred tax included in determination of net profit or loss for the year.
Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and adjustment to tax payable in respect of the previous
financial year.
Deferred tax is provided for, using the liability method, on temporary differences at the reporting date
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.
In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax
assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting
date. Deferred tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except when it arises from a transaction which is
recognised directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also charged or credited directly in other
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.3

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(j)

Revenue Recognition
(i)

Sales of Goods and Services Rendered
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to the Group
and the Company and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value
of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and services rendered in the ordinary
course of the Group’s and of the Company’s activities and is recognised in the profit or loss when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have been transferred to the buyer and when
the services are rendered.

(ii)

Interest revenue
Interest revenue is recognised on accrual basis.

(k)

Impairment
The Group and the Company assess at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a
financial asset is impaired.
(i)

Impairment of Financial Assets
Trade and other receivables
To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has
been incurred, the Group and the Company consider factors such as the probability of insolvency
or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and default or significant delay in payments. For
certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be
impaired individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis based on similar
risk characteristics. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the
Group's and the Company’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of
delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit period and observable changes in national
or local or economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.
If any such evidence exists, the amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.
The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial
assets with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use
of an allowance account. When a trade receivable becomes uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account.
If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not
exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount of reversal is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.3

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(k)

Impairment (Continued)
(ii)

Impairment of Non-financial Assets
The Group and the Company assess at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset
may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when an annual impairment assessment for an asset
is required, the Group and the Company make an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGU’s fair value less cost to sell and its
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risk specific to the asset. Where the carrying amounts of an asset exceed its recoverable
amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of a CGU or groups of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to those units or groups of units and then, to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the unit or groups of units on a pro-rata basis.
An impairment loss is recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
Impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period. An impairment loss for an asset
other than goodwill is reversed if, and only if, there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment was recognised. The carrying
amount of an asset other than goodwill is increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided
that this amount does not exceed its carrying amount that would have been determined (net of
amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is recognised in the profit or loss.

(l)

Employee Benefits
(i)

Short term employee benefits
Wages, salaries, social security contribution, bonuses and non-monetary benefits are accrued in the
period in which the associated services are rendered by the employees. Short-term accumulating
compensated absences such as paid annual leave are recognised when services are rendered
by employees that increase their entitlement to future compensated absences. Short term nonaccumulating compensated absences sick leave, maternity and paternity leave are recognised when
absences occur.

(ii)

Post-employment benefits
The Malaysian companies in the Group and the Company contributes to the Employees’ Provident
Fund, the national defined contribution plan. The contributions are charged to the profit or loss in the
period to which they are related. Once the contributions have been paid, the Group and the Company
have no further payment obligations.

(m)

Foreign currencies
(i)

Functional and presentation currency
The individual financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The
financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia, which is the Group’s functional currency and
presentation currency.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.3

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
(m)

Foreign currencies(Continued)
(ii)

Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the profit or loss.
The results and financial position of all the group entities that have a functional currency different from
the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:•
•

•

assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position;
income and expenses for each profit or loss are translated at average exchange rates (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative affect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates);
and
all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign
operations are taken to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold,
exchange differences that were recorded in equity are recognised in the profit or loss as part of the
gain or loss on sale.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.
(n)

Earnings Per Share
The Group presents basic earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by
dividing the profit or loss attributable to owners of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to
owners of the parent and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise convertible notes and share options granted to employees.

(o)

Segment Reporting
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may
earn revenue and incur expenses, including revenue and an expense relating to transactions with the Group’s
other components. All operating segment’s operating results are reviewed by the Group’s Executive Director
to make decisions about resources allocation to the segment and assess its performance, and for which
discrete financial information is available.

(p)

Cash and Cash Equivalents
For the purpose of the cash flows statements, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, bank
balances, demand deposits, other short term and highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, net of fixed
deposits pledged to financial institutions.

Smartag Solutions Berhad 639421-X • Annual Report 2011

49

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4

Significant Accounting Estimates and Judgements
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated by the directors and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
(a)

Critical Judgements Made in Applying Accounting Policies
In the process of applying the Group’s and the Company’s accounting policies, management has made the
following judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:Depreciation of IT Equipment under Installation and Work-In-Progress
The Group and the Company write down the cost of their assets on a straight line basis over their expected
useful lives when they are available for use, i.e. when they are in the location and condition necessary for
them to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
As at 30th September 2011, the directors are of the view that the IT equipment under installation and workin-progress with carrying amount of RM8,321,580/- and RM3,579,970/- respectively are still on a trial run
and not in a condition ready for operating and commercial use.

(b)

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The key assumption concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are as stated below:(i)

Useful lives of Property, Plant and Equipment
The Group estimates the useful lives of property, plant and equipment based on the period over
which the assets are expected to be available for use. The estimated useful lives of property, plant and
equipment are reviewed periodically and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates
due to physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits on the
use of the relevant assets.
In addition, the estimation of the useful lives of property, plant and equipment are based on internal
technical evaluation and experience with similar assets. It is possible, however, that future results of
operations could be materially affected by changes in the estimates brought about by changes in
factors mentioned above. The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for any period would be
affected by changes in these factors and circumstances. A reduction in the estimated useful lives of the
property, plant and equipment would increase the recorded expenses and decrease the non-current
assets.

(ii)

Impairment of loans and receivables
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset is impaired. To determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment, the Group considers
factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and default
or significant delay in payments.
Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing of future cash flows are
estimated based on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics.

(iii)

Net realisable values of inventories
Reviews are made periodically by management on slow moving inventories. These reviews require
judgements and estimates. Possible changes in these estimates could result in revisions to the
valuations of inventories.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4

Significant Accounting Estimates and Judgements (Continued)
(b)

Key Sources of Estimations (Continued)
(iv)

Impairment of goodwill
The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired on an annual basis. This requires an estimation
of the value-in-use of the cash generating units (“CGU”) to which goodwill is allocated. Estimating a
value-in-use amount requires the management to make an estimation of the expected future cash
flows from the CGU and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows.
In financial year 2010, the management of the Group and of the Company had made full impairment
loss on the goodwill on consolidation arising from the acquisition of Smartag International, Inc. in
view that the said subsidiary is dormant and the ability to generate any positive cash flow remained
uncertain.

(v)

Impairment of investment in subsidiary companies
The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at each
reporting date. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
As a result of the above, the Company recognised an impairment loss of RM819,068/- in financial year
2010.

(vi)

Impairment of investment in jointly controlled entity
The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at each
reporting date. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Significant judgement is required in the estimation
of the present value of future cash flows generated by the jointly controlled entity, which involve
uncertainties and are significantly affected by assumptions used and judgement made regarding
estimates of future cash flows and discount rates. Changes in assumptions could significantly affect
the results of the Group’s tests for impairment of investment in jointly controlled entity.
As at reporting date, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that there is no impact resulting
from the impairment review.

(vii)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and product development costs
The Group assesses impairment of assets whenever the events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of an asset may be recoverable i.e. the carrying amount of the asset is more
than the recoverable amount.
Recoverable amount is measured at the higher of the fair value less cost to sell for that asset and
its value-in-use. The value-in-use is the net present value of the projected future cash flows derived
from that asset discounted at an appropriate discount rate. Projected future cash flows are based on
the Group’s estimates calculated based on historical, sector and industry trends, general market and
economic conditions changes in technology and other available information.
As at reporting date, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that there is no impact resulting
from the impairment review.

(viii) Income taxes
The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the capital allowances and deducibility of certain expenses during the estimation of the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact
the income tax and deferred income tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
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RM

2011
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-

Write-off

Reclassification

-

Reclassification

30th September 2011

Net Book Value at

1,295,667

4,333

-

Write-off

At 30th September 2011

-

4,333

-

Transfer*

financial year

Depreciation for the

At 1st October 2010

Accumulated Depreciation

1,300,000

-

Transfer*

At 30th September 2011

1,300,000

-

Additions

At 1st October 2010

Cost

Building

Group

Office

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

75,608

44,728

(2,431)

(21,337)

-

31,026

37,470

120,336

(3,500)

(23,329)

-

75,856

71,309

RM

Computers

689,223

289,985

2,431

-

(1,765)

102,999

186,320

979,208

3,500

-

(5,197)

140,867

840,038

RM

Equipment

IT

8,321,580

-

-

-

-

-

-

8,321,580

-

(1,534)

-

1,795,177

6,527,937

RM

Installation

149,793

44,788

-

-

-

18,270

26,518

194,581

-

-

-

75,565

119,016

RM

and Fittings

and Furniture

Equipment

Equipment
under

Office

IT

91,663

10,416

-

-

-

5,798

4,618

102,079

-

-

-

89,674

12,405

RM

Renovation

-

94,256

4,961

-

-

-

4,961

-

99,217

-

-

-

99,217

RM

Vehicle

Motor

-

3,579,970

-

-

-

-

-

-

3,579,970

-

-

-

3,579,970

RM

Progress

Work-in

14,297,760

399,211

-

(21,337)

(1,765)

167,387

254,926

14,696,971

-

(24,863)

(5,197)

7,156,326

7,570,705

RM

Total

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

3.

RM

2010

-

Transfer*

Write-off

30th September 2010

Net Book Value at
33,839

37,470

-

Write-off

At 30th September 2010

-

18,874

18,596

Transfer*

financial year

Depreciation for the

At 1st October 2010

Accumulated Depreciation

71,309

25,678

Additions

At 30th September 2010

45,631

At 1st October 2009

Cost

Computers

Group

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

653,718

186,320

-

(24,032)

104,879

105,473

840,038

-

(87,150)

42,963

884,225

RM

Equipment

IT

-

6,527,937

-

-

-

-

-

6,527,937

-

-

6,527,937

RM

Installation

92,498

26,518

-

-

14,238

12,280

119,016

-

-

11,587

107,429

RM

and Fittings

and Furniture

Equipment

Equipment
under

Office

IT

7,787

4,618

(3,897)

-

3,970

4,545

12,405

(27,511)

-

-

39,916

RM

Renovation

7,315,779

254,926

(3,897)

(24,032)

141,961

140,894

7,570,705

(27,511)

(87,150)

6,608,165

1,077,201

RM

Total

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
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-

Reclassfication

30th September 2011

Net Book Value at

1,295,667

4,333

76,781

41,466

(2,431)

-

Reclassification

At 30th September 2011

(21,337)

-

Write-off

-

30,433

34,801

-

4,333

-

118,247

(3,500)

(23,329)

-

75,856

69,220

RM

Computers

Transfer*

financial year

Depreciation for the

At 1st October 2010

Accumulated Depreciation

1,300,000

-

Write-off

At 30th September 2011

-

Transfer*

-

1,300,000

RM

Building

Additions

At 1st October 2010

Cost

2011

Company

Office

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

688,037

289,391

2,431

-

(1,765)

102,999

185,726

977,428

3,500

-

(5,197)

140,867

838,258

RM

Equipment

IT

8,321,580

-

-

-

-

-

-

8,321,580

-

(1,534)

-

1,795,177

6,527,937

RM

Installation

136,077

27,483

-

-

-

12,066

15,417

163,560

-

-

-

75,565

87,995

RM

and Fittings

and Furniture

Equipment

Equipment
under

Office

IT

88,082

5,042

-

-

-

4,006

1,036

93,124

-

-

-

89,674

3,450

RM

Renovation

-

94,256

4,961

-

-

-

4,961

-

99,217

-

-

-

99,217

RM

Vehicle

Motor

-

3,579,970

-

-

-

-

-

-

3,579,970

-

-

-

3,579,970

RM

Progress

Work-in

14,280,450

372,676

-

(21,337)

(1,765)

158,798

236,980

14,653,126

-

(24,863)

(5,197)

7,156,326

7,526,860

RM

Total

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

3.

-

Transfer*

Write-off

652,532

-

6,527,937

-

-

-

-

-

6,527,937

-

-

6,527,937

RM

Installation

under

72,578

15,417

-

-

8,379

7,038

87,995

-

-

6,377

81,618

RM

and Fittings

and Furniture

Equipment

Equipment

IT equipment with net book value of RM3,432/- (2010: RM63,118/-) was transferred to inventory during the financial year.

34,419

185,726

-

(24,032)

104,879

104,879

838,258

-

(87,150)

42,963

882,445

RM

Equipment

IT

Office

IT

2,414

1,036

(3,897)

-

2,179

2,754

3,450

(27,511)

-

-

30,961

RM

Renovation

The balance of purchase consideration for work-in progress is disclosed as capital commitment in Note 26 (b) to the financial statements.

*

30th September 2010

Net Book Value at

34,801

-

Write-off

At 30th September 2010

-

17,597

17,204

Transfer*

financial year

Depreciation for the

At 1st October 2009

Accumulated Depreciation

69,220

25,678

Additions

At 30th September 2010

43,542

RM

Computers

At 1st October 2009

Cost

2010

Company

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

7,289,880

236,980

(3,897)

(24,032)

133,034

131,875

7,526,860

(27,511)

(87,150)

6,602,955

1,038,566

RM

Total

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
4.

INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
Company

Unquoted shares - at cost
Less: Accumulated allowance for impairment

2011

2010

RM

RM

819,068

819,068

(819,068)

(819,068)

-

-

Key assumptions used in impairment calculations
Management determined the recoverable amount of the investment in subsidiary companies based on the individual
assets’ value in use and the probability of the realisation of the assets. The present value of the future cash flows to be
generated by the asset is the asset’s value in use, and it is assumed to be the same as the net worth of the asset as at
reporting date. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the profit or loss if the recoverable amount is less than
the carrying amount.
As a result of the above, the Company recognised an impairment loss of RM819,068/- during the last financial year.
Details of the subsidiary companies are as follows:-

Name of Company

Smartag Technologies Sdn. Bhd.*

Country of

Effective

Incorporation

Equity Interest

Malaysia

Principal Activities

2011

2010

%

%

100

100

Dormant

94.01

98.6

Dormant

United States
Smartag International, Inc.#*

of America

# Audited by another firm of chartered accountants other than Baker Tilly Monteiro Heng.
* The Auditors’ Report of this subsidiary contains an emphasis of matter paragraph in relation to the going concern
consideration.
During the financial year, Smartag International, Inc.(“SII”) had issued 500,000 shares of common stock. The shares
were issued upon the conversion of the USD25,000/- Convertible Note as disclosed in Note 15(b)(ii) to the financial
statements. Following the issuance of the additional 500,000 SII common stocks, there was a dilution in the Company’s
effective equity interest in SII from 98.60% to 94.01%.
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5.

INVESTMENT IN A JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITY
Group

Unquoted shares - at cost

Company

2011

2010

2011

2010

RM

RM

RM

RM

5,015,000

Share of post-acquisition loss

5,015,000

(14,334)

5,015,000

5,015,000

-

-

5,015,000

5,015,000

(12,384)

5,000,666

5,002,616

The Group’s aggregate share of the current assets, non-current assets, current liabilities, income and expenses of the
jointly controlled entity are as follows:2011

2010

RM

RM

Assets and liabilities
Current assets

3,743

7,683

Non-current assets

10,000,000

10,000,000

Total assets

10,003,743

10,007,683

Current liabilities

(2,411)

Non-current liabilities

-

Total liabilities

(2,411)

(2,451)
(2,451)

Results
Revenue

-

Expenses

(3,900)

(24,768)

Details of the jointly controlled entity are as follows:Country of
Name of Company

Sure-Reach Smartag Sdn. Bhd.#

Effective Equity

Incorporation

Malaysia

Interest

Principal Activities

2011

2010

%

%

50

50

Provision of software solutions and
integration services for the courier
and logistics industry.
The company has yet to commence
operation during the financial year.

# Audited by another firm of chartered accountants other than Baker Tilly Monteiro Heng.
On 19th May 2010, the Company entered into a joint venture agreement with Sure-Reach Worldwide Express Sdn. Bhd.
and incorporated a jointly controlled entity, Sure-Reach Smartag Sdn. Bhd. (“SRS”) with a total paid up share capital of
RM10,030,000/- consisting of 10,030,000 ordinary shares of RM1/- each. The Company subscribed for 50% of the total
paid up capital in SRS.
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6.

GOODWILL ON CONSOLIDATION
Group

Goodwill on consolidation, at cost
Less: Accumulated allowance for impairment

2011

2010

RM

RM

864,230

864,230

(864,230)

(864,230)

-

-

Goodwill on consolidation arose from the acquisition of Smartag International, Inc. The management of the Company
determines whether goodwill is impaired on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value-in-use of the cash
generating units (“CGU”) to which goodwill is allocated. Estimating a value-in-use amount requires the management to
make an estimation of the expected future cash flows from the CGU and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order
to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
In financial year 2010, the management of the Company had made a full impairment loss on the goodwill on consolidation
arising from the acquisition of Smartag International, Inc in view that the said subsidiary is dormant and the ability to
generate any positive cash flow remained uncertain.
7.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Group and Company
2011

2010

RM

RM

Product Development Costs
Cost
At 1st October

4,232,417

785,800

Additions

707,500

3,446,617

Disposals

-

-

4,939,917

4,232,417

-

-

4,939,917

4,232,417

At 30th September
Accumulated Amortisation
At 1st October/30th September
Carrying Amount at 30th September

8.

INVENTORIES
The inventories of the Group and the Company represent the finished goods, carried at cost.
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9.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Group

Company

2011

2010

2011

2010

RM

RM

RM

RM

Trade receivables (Note 9(a))
Trade receivables

110,244

11,610,528

110,244

11,610,528

-

-

-

-

110,244

11,610,528

110,244

11,610,528

274

-

274

-

95,194

42,788

93,194

28,988

Prepayments

160,132

-

160,132

-

Other receivables, net

255,600

42,788

253,600

28,988

Total trade and other receivables

365,844

11,653,316

363,844

11,639,516

-

-

-

-

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 11)

19,651,166

961,031

19,625,680

943,962

Total loans and receivables

20,017,010

12,614,347

19,989,524

12,583,478

Less: Allowance for impairment
Trade receivables, net
Other receivables (Note 9(b))
Other receivables
Deposits

Add:
Amount owing by subsidiary
companies (Note 10)

(a)

Trade receivables
The normal trade credit terms granted to the Group and the Company range from 1 to 120 days (2010: 1 to 120
days). Other credit terms are assessed and approved on a case-by-case basis.
The Company has significant concentration of credit risk in the form of outstanding balances due from 3 customers
(2010: 1) representing 96% (2010: 64%) of the total trade receivables.
The currency exposure profile of trade receivables is as follows:Group

Ringgit Malaysia

Company

2011

2010

2011

2010

RM

RM

RM

RM

105,400

4,235,000

105,400

4,235,000

Thai Baht

4,844

-

4,844

-

US Dollar

-

7,375,528

-

7,375,528

110,244

11,610,528

110,244

11,610,528
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9.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
(a)

Trade receivables (Continued)
Ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:Group and Company

Neither past due nor impaired

2011

2010

RM

RM

26,400

9,613,528

1 to 30 days past due not impaired

42,497

1,958,000

31 to 60 days past due not impaired

2,347

-

61 to 90 days past due not impaired

-

-

91 to 120 days past due not impaired

-

-

39,000

39,000

83,844

1,997,000

-

-

110,244

11,610,528

Past due but not impaired

More than 121 days past due not impaired
Impaired

Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired
Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with good payment records with
the Group.
None of the Group’s trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired have been renegotiated during the
financial year.
Receivables that are past due but not impaired
Based on historical default rates, the Group believes that no allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables
that are past due. These receivables are mainly arising from trade receivables that have a good credit record with
the Group.
The trade receivables that are past due but not impaired are unsecured in nature.
(b)

Other receivables
The amount due from other receivables are unsecured, interest free and are repayable on demand.
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10.

AMOUNT OWING BY SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
Company

Amount owing by subsidiary companies, at cost
Less: Accumulated allowance for impairment

2011

2010

RM

RM

456,057

321,950

(456,057)

(321,950)

Amount owing by subsidiary companies, net (Note 9)
(a)

-

-

Amount owing by Smartag International, Inc. (“SII”)
Included in amount owing by subsidiary companies is an amount of RM409,608/- (equivalent to USD128,364/-)
advanced to SII.
On 17th March 2009, the Company entered into a Revolving Promissory Note (the “Secured Note”) with SII. Under
the terms of the Secured Note, the Company agreed to advance to SII, from time to time and at the request of SII,
amounts up to an aggregate of USD200,000/- until 31st December 2010. All advances are interest free and shall
be paid on or before 31st December 2010. The Secured Note ranks higher to all current and future indebtedness
of SII and is secured by substantially all of the assets of SII.
The security agreement had been extended to 30th September 2012.
As at 30th September 2011, full allowance for impairment had been made for the total amount advanced to SII.

(b)

Amount owing by Smartag Technologies Sdn. Bhd. (“ST”)
The amount owing by ST is unsecured, interest free and are repayable on demand. As at 30th September 2011,
the total amount advanced to ST was RM46,449/-. Full allowance for impairment had been made for the amount
advanced to ST.

(c)

Movement in allowance for impairment is as follows:Company

At 1st January
Charge during the financial year
At 31st December

2011

2010

RM

RM

321,950

-

134,107

321,950

456,057

321,950
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11.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Group

Company

2011

2010

2011

2010

RM

RM

RM

RM

Fixed deposits placed with
licensed banks
Cash and bank balances
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 9)

12,971,293

18,000

12,971,293

18,000

6,679,873

943,031

6,654,387

925,962

19,651,166

961,031

19,625,680

943,962

The fixed deposits placed with licensed banks earn interest rates ranging from 2.73% to 2.87% (2010: 2.00% to 2.25%)
per annum and have maturity periods ranging from 7 days to 12 months (2010: 1 to 12 months).
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents by currency is as follows:Group

Ringgit Malaysia

12.

Company

2011

2010

2011

2010

RM

RM

RM

RM

19,318,953

945,540

19,313,767

943,962

Thai Baht

311,913

-

311,913

-

US Dollar

20,300

15,491

-

-

19,651,166

961,031

19,625,680

943,962

SHARE CAPITAL
Group and Company
2011

2010

Number

Number

of shares

of shares

Unit

RM

Unit

RM

Ordinary shares of RM0.10 each
Authorised:At the beginning/end of the financial year

250,000,000

25,000,000

250,000,000

25,000,000

At the beginning of the financial year

170,000,000

17,000,000

20,000,000

2,000,000

Bonus issued during the financial year

-

-

150,000,000

15,000,000

57,000,000

5,700,000

-

-

227,000,000

22,700,000

170,000,000

17,000,000

Issued and fully paid up:-

Issuance of shares
At the end of the financial year
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12

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
During last financial year, the Company increased its issued and fully paid up share capital from RM2,000,000/- to
RM17,000,000/- by capitalising a sum of RM15,000,000/- for 150,000,000 ordinary shares of RM0.10 each in the share
capital of the Company. The shares were allotted and distributed as fully paid bonus shares on the basis of 7.5 new
ordinary shares of RM0.10 each for 1 existing ordinary share of RM0.10 each held by the shareholders.
On 18th April 2011, the Company was listed on the ACE Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and made a public
issue of 57,000,000 ordinary shares at issue price of RM0.31 each (“Public Issue”). The total proceeds from Public Issue
was RM17,670,000/-.
The Company’s Public Issue has increased its issued and fully paid share capital from RM17,000,000/- to RM22,700,000/by capitalising a sum of RM5,7000,000/- for 57,000,000 ordinary shares of RM0.10 each in the share capital of the
Company.
The new shares rank pari-passu with the existing shares of the Company.

13.

RETAINED PROFITS
Prior to the year of assessment 2008, Malaysian companies adopted the full imputation system. In accordance with
the Finance Act 2007 which was gazetted on 28th December 2007, companies shall not be entitled to deduct tax on
dividends paid, credited or distributed to its shareholders, and such dividends will be exempted from tax in the hands of
the shareholders (“single tier system”). However, there is a transitional period of six years, expiring on 31st December
2013, to allow companies to pay franked dividends to their shareholders under limited circumstances. Companies also
have an irrevocable option to disregard the Section 108 balance and opt to pay dividends under the single tier system.
The change in the tax legislation also provides for the Section 108 balance to be locked-in as at 31st December 2007 in
accordance with Section 39 of the Finance Act 2007.
As at 30th September 2011, the Section 108 balance of the Company was Nil (2010: Nil) and tax-exempt account
balance was RM27,296,976/- (2010: RM25,039,843/-).

14.

RESERVES
Group

Share premium
Less: share issuance expenses
Foreign exchange translation

Company

2011

2010

2011

2010

RM

RM

RM

RM

11,970,000
(712,285)

-

11,970,000
(712,285)

-

11,257,715

-

11,257,715

-

28,031

5,717

-

-

11,285,746

5,717

11,257,715

-

Foreign exchange translation
Foreign exchange translation represents foreign currency exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies are different from that of the Group’s presentation
currency.
Share premium
The share premium is arrived at after accounting for the premium received over the nominal value of shares issued to the
public, net of share issue expenses.
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15.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Group
2011
RM
Trade payables (Note 15(a))

Company
2010
RM

2011
RM

2010
RM

39,931

39,931

39,145

39,145

31,351
292,899
324,250

181,992
427,544
609,536

15,176
291,399
306,575

68,222
426,544
494,766

Total trade and other payables

364,181

649,467

345,720

533,911

Total financial liabilities
carried at amortised cost

364,181

649,467

345,720

533,911

Other payables (Note 15(b))
Other payables
Accruals

(a)

Trade payables
The normal trade credit terms granted to the Group and the Company range from 1 to 30 days (2010: 1 to 90
days). Other credit terms are assessed and approved on a case-by-case basis.

(b)

Other payables
The amounts due to other payables are unsecured, interest free and are repayable on demand.
(i)

The currency exposure profile of other payables is as follows:Group

Ringgit Malaysia
Thai Baht
US Dollar

(ii)

Company

2011
RM

2010
RM

2011
RM

2010
RM

306,083
1,992
16,175
324,250

503,017
106,519
609,536

304,583
1,992
306,575

494,766
494,766

On 18th November 2008, Smartag International, Inc. (“SII”) issued a Convertible Note for USD25,000/to Ventana Capital Partners, Inc. (“Ventana”) in connection with USD10,000/- cash and USD15,000/- in
professional services provided by Ventana. The convertible note was subsequently transferred to Venor, Inc.
on 31st December 2008 and Venor had on 1st November 2010 subsequently transferred the Convertible
Note to Paul Matthews.
On 10th November 2010, Smartag International had entered into a settlement agreement with Paul
Matthews for the full settlement of the Convertible Note. Pursuant to the said agreement, the outstanding
Convertible Note of USD25,000/- as at the even date will be converted to 500,000 Smartag International‘s
common stock as the full and final settlement for the Convertible Note (“Conversion of Convertible Note”).

16.

REVENUE
Group and Company
Revenue represents the invoiced value of products and services rendered, net of discounts.
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17.

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
(Loss)/profit before taxation has been arrived at:Group

Company

2011

2010

2011

2010

RM

RM

RM

RM

After charging:Allowance for impairment on amount
owing by subsidiary companies

-

-

134,107

321,950

- current year

21,500

27,500

20,000

25,000

- prior year

20,500

(4,500)

20,000

Audit fee

Deposit written off

(6,000)

400

12,500

400

12,500

167,387

141,961

158,798

133,034

- fees

192,000

270,000

192,000

270,000

- salaries and allowances

540,000

241,181

540,000

241,181

64,800

61,200

64,800

61,200

1,240

-

1,240

-

-

-

-

819,068

-

864,230

-

-

271,471

61,352

271,471

61,352

-

84,804

-

118,931

3,526

23,614

3,526

23,614

62,593

86,204

62,593

80,204

Depreciation
Directors' remuneration

- Employees' Provident Fund
- SOCSO
Impairment loss on investment in
subsidiary companies
Impairment loss on goodwill
Loss on foreign exchange
- realised
- unrealised
Property, plant and equipment
written off
Rental
Staff costs

12,200

-

12,200

-

- Employees' Provident Fund

- bonus

107,267

68,207

107,267

68,207

- salaries and wages

929,085

604,592

929,085

604,592

9,752

8,345

9,752

8,345

-

8,304

-

-

- SOCSO
Tax recoverable written off
And crediting:Government grant
Interest income

-

(1,400,000)

(271,792)

(6,120)

(23)

(470)

-

(1,400,000)

(271,792)

(6,120)

(23)

(470)

Gain on foreign exchange
- realised
- unrealised

(13,844)

-

(13,844)

-
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18.

TAXATION
Group

Company

2011

2010

2011

2010

RM

RM

RM

RM

Income tax
- current year

-

- prior year

-

(1,530)

-

221

(1,530)

-

(1,309)

221

-

(1,309)

The Company is exempted from income tax in respect of its statutory business income derived from Malaysia as the
Company is granted MSC (Multimedia Super Corridor) status with Pioneer Status tax incentive for 5 years beginning 11th
July 2007.
Domestic income tax is calculated at the Malaysia statutory tax rate of 25% of the estimated assessable profit for the
financial year. Taxation for other jurisdiction is calculated at the rates prevailing in the jurisdiction.
A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to (loss)/profit before taxation at the statutory income tax rate to
income tax expense at the effective income tax rate of the Group and of the Company is as follows:Group

(Loss)/profit before tax
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 25%

Company

2011

2010

2011

2010

RM

RM

RM

RM

(1,699,211)
424,804

10,348,257
(2,587,064)

(1,682,632)
420,658

10,200,279
(2,550,070)

Tax effect arising from:
- non-deductible expenses
- non-taxable income

(282,893)

(109,042)

(279,235)

(149,132)

59,065

-

59,065

-

-

2,718,328

-

2,718,328

- tax incentive-Pioneer status
- origination of deferred tax assets not
recognised in the financial statements

(200,488)

- overaccrual in prior year

(20,656)

-

- share of result of a jointly controlled entity

(488)

Tax expense for the financial year

-

(200,488)

221

(20,656)

-

221

(3,096)

-

-

(1,309)

-

(1,309)

The deferred tax assets have not been recognised for the following items:Group

Temporary differences
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2011

2010

2011

2010

RM

RM

RM

RM

(921,081)

Unabsorbed capital allowances

409,265

Unutilised tax losses

Potential deferred tax assets at 25%

Company

(674,440)

(933,792)

(687,151)

-

409,265

787,494

148,166

731,846

92,518

275,678

(526,274)

207,319

(594,633)

68,920

(131,568)

51,830

(148,658)

Smartag Solutions Berhad 639421-X • Annual Report 2011

-
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19.

(LOSS)/PROFIT PER ORDINARY SHARE
Basic (loss)/profit per ordinary share
Basic (loss)/profit per ordinary share is calculated by dividing the net (loss)/profit for the financial year attributable to the
owners of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year calculated as
follows:Group

Net (loss)/profit for the financial year attributable to owners of the Company
Number of shares in issue as of 1st January

2011

2010

RM

RM

(1,693,528)

10,346,948

170,000,000

20,000,000

-

150,000,000

25,923,288

-

195,923,288

170,000,000

Effect of:
Bonus issue
Issuance of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
Basic (loss)/profit per share for the financial year (sen)

(0.86)

6.09

Diluted (loss)/profit per ordinary share
The basic and diluted (loss)/profit per ordinary share are the same as the Group has no dilutive potential ordinary shares.
20.

OPERATING SEGMENTS
The Group has one reportable segment, which is principally engaged in the distribution, research, design and deployment
of radio frequency identity tag. The Group’s Chief Executive Officer (the Chief Operating Decision Maker) reviews internal
management reports on the segment at least on a quarterly basis.
Accordingly, information by operating segment on the Group’s operations as required by FRS 8 is not presented.
Geographical Segments
The Group operates predominantly in one country, that is, Malaysia. Accordingly, the information by geographical
segments of the Group’s operations is not presented.

21.

SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a)

Identification of Related Parties
Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the
party or exercise significant influence over the party in making financial and operational decisions, or vice versa, or
where the Group and the party are subject to common control. Related parties may be individuals or other entities.
Related parties of the Group include:(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)

Subsidiaries;
Jointly controlled entity;
A company in which the director of the Company has substantial financial interest; and
Key management personnel which comprise persons (including the directors of the Company) who have the
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company directly or
indirectly.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)
21.

SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(b)

Significant related party transactions
Group and Company
2011

2010

RM

RM

Sale of goods to Mitzmara Sdn. Bhd.*

-

131,178

-

3,046,640

Purchase of property, plant and equipment from
Danawa Resources Sdn. Bhd.*
* companies with common shareholder and common director
The directors of the Group and the Company are of the opinion that these transactions have been entered into in
the normal course of business and have been established under negotiated terms.
(c)

Key management personnel remuneration
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the financial year are as follows:Group and Company
2011

2010

RM

RM

64,800

61,200

- fees

192,000

270,000

- salaries and allowances

540,000

241,181

796,800

572,381

367,000

237,450

38,160

27,000

405,160

264,450

Directors
- Employees' Provident Fund

Other key management personnel
- salaries, bonuses and allowances
- Employees' Provident Fund

Other members of key management personnel comprise persons other than directors of the Group entities, having
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group either directly or
indirectly.
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22.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Determination of fair value
The following are classes of financial instruments that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts are
reasonable approximation of fair value:Note
Financial assets (current)
Trade and other receivables

9

Amount owing by subsidiary companies

10

Cash and cash equivalents

11

Financial liabilities (current)
Trade and other payables

15

The carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities are reasonable approximation of fair values, either due to
their short term nature or that they are floating rate instruments that are re-priced to market interest rates or near the
financial year end.

23.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group and the Company are exposed to financial risks arising from their operations and the use of financial instruments.
The Group and the Company seek to manage effectively various risks namely credit, liquidity, foreign currency, interest
rate and market price risks to which the Group and the Company are exposed to in their daily operations.
(i)

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss to the Group and the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. The Group’s and the Company’s objective is to seek continual
revenue growth while minimising losses incurred due to increased credit risk exposure. The Group’s and the
Company’s exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade and other receivables. For other financial assets
(including fixed deposits placed with licensed banks and cash and bank balances), the Group and the Company
minimise credit risk by dealing exclusively with high credit rating counterparties. The management has a credit
policy in place to monitor and minimise the exposure of default. Credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over certain amount.
At the reporting date, the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of
each class of financial assets recognised in the statements of financial position.
Cash and cash equivalents are placed with banks and financial institutions which are regulated.
Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired
Information regarding trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired is disclosed in Note 9 to the
financial statements.

Financial assets that are either past due or impaired
		
Information regarding trade receivables that are past due or impaired is disclosed in Note 9 to the financial
statements.
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23.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
(ii)

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial obligations due
to shortage of funds. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of
the maturities of financial assets and liabilities. The Group’s and the Company’s objective is to maintain a balance
between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of stand-by credit facilities.
The Group and the Company actively manage their debt maturity profile, operating cash flows and the availability
of funding so as to ensure that all financing, repayment and funding needs are met. As part of their overall prudent
liquidity management, the Group and the Company maintain sufficient levels of cash and cash equivalents to meet
their working capital requirements.
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s liabilities at the financial year
end based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.
On
demand
or within
1 Year
Financial liabilities

RM

2011
Group
Trade payables

39,931

Other payables and accruals

324,250

Total undiscounted financial liabilities

364,181

Company
Trade payables

(iii)

39,145

Other payables and accruals

306,575

Total undiscounted financial liabilities

345,720

Foreign Currency Risk
Foreign currency is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates.
During the financial year, the Group and the Company incurred foreign currency risk on transactions that are
denominated in currencies other than Ringgit Malaysia. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily United
States Dollar and Thai Baht. Exposures to foreign currency risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.
The Group and the Company do not consider it necessary to enter into foreign exchange contracts in managing
its foreign exchange risk resulting from cash flows from transactions denominated in foreign currencies, given the
nature of the business for the time being.
The financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group and the Company that are not denominated in their
functional currencies are disclosed in respective note to the financial statements.
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23.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
(iv)

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and the Company’s financial
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.
The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily from fixed deposits placed with
licensed banks. The investment in financial assets is mainly short term in nature and they are not held for speculative
purposes.
The effective interest rate of the financial assets of the Group and the Company are disclosed in respective note to
the financial statements.

(v)

Market Price Risk
Market price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s financial instruments will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices (other than interest or exchange rates).
The Group has in place policies to manage the Group’s exposure to fluctuations in the selling price of the Group’s
products and purchase prices of the key materials used in operations. The Management conducts constant survey
of the global market price and trend in order to determine the selling price.

24.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Group’s primary objective when managing capital is to maintain a strong capital base and safeguard the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future
development of the business.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and
the risk characteristic of the underlying assets. To maintain and or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, buy back issued shares, obtain new
borrowings or reduce borrowings.
There were no changes made on the capital management objectives, policies and processes of the Group during the
financial year.
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. The ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital
plus net debt. Net debt is calculated as total interest bearing financial liabilities less cash and cash equivalents. Total
capital refers to equity attributable to the owners of the Company.
The Group is also required to comply with the disclosure and necessary capital requirements as prescribed in the ACE
Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities Berhad.

25.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR
(a)

During the financial year, Smartag International, Inc. a subsidiary of the Company had issued 500,000 shares of
common stock. The shares were issued upon the conversion of the USD25,000/- (equivalents to RM77,438/-)
Convertible Note as disclosed in Note 15 (b)(ii) to the financial statements. The Convertible Note was settled at a
conversion rate of USD0.05 per share for 500,000 shares.
Following the issuance of additional common stocks, there was dilution in Smartag Solutions' effective equity
interest in SII from 98.6% to 94.01%.
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25.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR (Continued)
(b)

On 18th April 2011, the Company was listed on the ACE Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and made a
public issue of 57,000,000 ordinary shares at issue price of RM0.31 each (“Public Issue”). The total proceeds from
Public Issue was RM17,670,000/-.
The Company’s Public Issue has increased its issued and fully paid up share capital from RM17,000,000/- to
RM22,700,000/- by capitalising a sum of RM5,7000,000/- for 57,000,000 ordinary shares of RM0.10 each in the
share capital of the Company.
The new shares rank pari-passu with the existing shares of the Company.

26.

COMMITMENTS
(a)

Loan Commitment
Details of the loan commitment are disclosed in Note 15 to the financial statements.

(b)

Capital Commitments
Group and Company
2011

2010

RM

RM

Capital expenditure
Approved and contracted for:
- Property, plant and equipment
- Intangible assets

27.

2,368,743

-

-

707,500

2,368,743

707,500

COMPARATIVE FIGURES
FRS 101 (revised), Presentation of Financial Statements
Arising from the adoption of FRS 101 (revised), income statements for the year ended 30th September 2010 and 1st
October 2010 have been re-presented as statements of comprehensive income. All non-owner changes in equity that
were presented in the statements of changes in equity are now included in the statements of comprehensive income as
other comprehensive income. Consequently, components of comprehensive income are not presented in the statements
of changes in equity.
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION ON THE DISCLOSURE
OF REALISED AND UNREALISED PROFITS OR LOSSES
On 25th March 2010, Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Malaysia”) issued a directive to all listed issuers pursuant to
Paragraphs 2.06 and 2.23 of the Bursa Malaysia Main Market Listing Requirements. The directive requires all listed issuers to
disclose the breakdown of the retained profits or accumulated losses as at the reporting date, into realised and unrealised
profits or losses.
On 20th December 2010, Bursa Malaysia further issued another directive on the disclosure and prescribed format of presentation.
Pursuant to the directive, the amounts of realised and unrealised profits or losses included in the retained profits of the Group
and the Company as at 30th September 2011 are as follows:Group

Company

RM

RM

Total retained profits of the Company and its subsidiaries
- Realised
- Unrealised

5,162,053

9,964,503

16,600

2,779

5,178,653

9,967,282

Total share of retained earnings from a jointly controlled entity
- Realised
- Unrealised

(1,950)

-

-

-

5,176,703

9,967,282

Add: Consolidation adjustments

4,793,447

-

Total retained profits

9,970,150

9,967,282

The determination of realised and unrealised profits or losses is complied based on Guidance of Special Matter No.1,
Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities
Berhad Listing Requirements, issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants on 20th December 2010.
The disclosure of realised and unrealised profits or losses above is solely for complying with the disclosure requirements
stipulated in the directive of Bursa Malaysia and should not be applied for any other purposes.
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STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS
We, CHOONG HUCK LIANG and LIM PENG KEONG, being two of the directors of SMARTAG SOLUTIONS BERHAD, do
hereby state that in the opinion of the directors, the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 31 to 72 are properly
drawn up in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standards and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 30th September 2011 and of the results and
cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the financial year ended on that date.
The supplementary information set out on page 73 has been compiled in accordance with the Guidance of Special Matter
No.1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia
Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants.
On behalf of the Board,

……………………………………..........…….......
CHOONG HUCK LIANG
Director

……………………………………..........…….......
LIM PENG KEONG
Director

Kuala Lumpur
Date: 9th January 2012
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STATUTORY DECLARATION
I, LIM PENG KEONG, being the director primarily responsible for the financial management of SMARTAG SOLUTIONS
BERHAD, do solemnly and sincerely declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, the accompanying financial
statements set out on pages 31 to 72, and the supplementary information set out on page 73 are correct, and I make this
solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true, and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations
Act, 1960.

……………………………………..........…….......
LIM PENG KEONG
Subscribed and solemnly declared by the abovenamed at Kuala Lumpur in the Federal Territory on 9th January 2012.

Before me,

……………………………………..........…….......
ARSHAD ABDULLAH (No. W550)
Commissioner for Oaths
Kuala Lumpur
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF SMARTAG SOLUTIONS BERHAD
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the financial statements of Smartag Solutions Berhad, which comprise the statements of financial position
as at 30th September 2011 of the Group and of the Company, and the statements of comprehensive income, statements of
changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the financial year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, as set out on pages 31 to 72.
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with the Financial Reporting Standards and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, and for such internal controls
as the directors determine are necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal controls
relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements have been properly drawn up in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standards
and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the
Company as at 30th September 2011 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the financial year then ended.
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, we also report the following:-
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(a)

In our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company and
its subsidiaries of which we have acted as auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

(b)

We have considered the financial statements and the auditors’ reports of the subsidiary of which we have not acted as
auditors, which are indicated in Note 4 to the financial statements.

(c)

We are satisfied that the financial statements of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the Company’s
financial statements are in a form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation of the
financial statements of the Group and we have received satisfactory information and explanations required by us for
those purposes.

(d)

The auditors’ reports on the financial statements of the subsidiaries did not contain any qualification or any adverse
comments made under Section 174(3) of the Act.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF SMARTAG SOLUTIONS BERHAD (cont’d)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Other Reporting Responsibilities
The supplementary information set out in page 73 is disclosed to meet the requirement of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad
and is not part of the financial statements. The directors are responsible for the preparation of the supplementary information
in accordance with the Guidance on Special Matter No.1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the
Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute
of Accountants (“MIA Guidance”) and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. In our opinion, the supplementary
information is prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the MIA Guidance and the directive of Bursa Malaysia
Securities Berhad.
Other Matters
This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the Companies Act,
1965 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the contents of this report.

Baker Tilly Monteiro Heng
No. AF 0117
Chartered Accountants

Heng Ji Keng
No. 578/05/12 (J/PH)
Partner

Kuala Lumpur
Date: 9th January 2012
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ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
As at 30 December 2011

AUTHORISED SHARE CAPITAL
ISSUED AND FULLY PAID-UP CAPITAL
CLASS OF SHARE
VOTING RIGHTS

:
:
:
:

RM25,000,000
RM22,700,000
Ordinary shares of RM0.10 each fully paid
On a show of hands - one vote for every shareholder
On a poll - one vote for every ordinary share held

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS
No. of
shareholders

Size of Shareholding

Less than 100
100 - 1,000
1,001-10,000
10,001 - 100,000
100,001 - 11,349,999
11,350,000 and above
Total

6
528
900
1,103
139
4
2,680

% of
shareholders

No. of shares

0.22
19.70
33.58
41.16
5.19
0.15
100.00

% of shares

250
493,750
6,361,400
39,481,900
57,967,700
122,695,000
227,000,000

0.00
0.22
2.80
17.39
25.54
54.05
100.00

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS PER REGISTER OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
As at 30 December 2011
Name
Direct Interest
1
2
3
4

Datuk Abdul Hamed Bin Sepawi
Lim Peng Keong
Choong Huck Liang
Online Entertainment Sdn Bhd

51,000,000
26,520,000
25,330,000
19,845,000

% of Issued
Capital

Indirect
Interest

22.47
11.68
11.16
8.74

% of Issued
Capital
-

-

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS
As at 30 December 2011

Name
1
2
3
4
5
6

Datuk Abdul Hamed Bin Sepawi
Lim Peng Keong
Choong Huck Liang
Dato’ Ngiam Foon
Dato’ Seri Chia Kwang Chye
Lim Boh Soon

Direct Interest
51,000,000
26,520,000
25,330,000
100,000
100,000

% of Issued
Capital
22.47
11.68
11.16
0.04
0.04

Indirect
Interest

% of Issued
Capital
-

-

Note : By virtue of his interest of more than 15% in the Ordinary Shares of the Company, Datuk Abdul Hamed Bin Sepawi is
also deemed to has interest in the Ordinary Shares of all the subsidiaries to the extent that the Company has an interest.
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ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS (cont’d)

As at 30 December 2011

LIST OF THIRTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 30 DECEMBER 2011
NO

NAME

1
2
3
4
5
6

ABDUL HAMED BIN SEPAWI
LIM PENG KEONG
CHOONG HUCK LIANG
ONLINE ENTERTAINMENT SDN BHD
KIBARAN HASRAT SDN. BHD.
CIMSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
BANK OF SINGAPORE LTD FOR TAN HUA KAE VINCENT
AMSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR TAN HUA KAE VINCENT
AFFIN NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR KOH JUI LIAN (KOH0682M)
HO KAN TENG
MAYBAN NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR LOO CHEONG WAH
CIMSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
CIMB BANK FOR HOO YEONG DAR (MK0101)
LINDA WANG SIOK KIM
TA NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR LOH TAI CHEONG @ CHIN TAI CHEONG
TAN KEE SEONG
ROSSANA ANNIZAH BINTI AHMAD RASHID
MAYBAN NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
SHAHRUL NADZRI BIN RAMLI
PUBLIC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR TAY POH CHAI (E-SRB)
PUBLIC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR WONG YEOW CHERN (E-KPG)
AMSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR SHAHAR BIN ABD KARIM
MAYBAN NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR SEE KOK WAH
LAW HOW HOCK
LOW ENG YEW
GAN KHO @ GAN HONG LEONG
HO KANG CHAI
TEO KHENG SENG
HLG NOMINEE (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
HONG LEONG BANK BHD FOR TAN YEE KENG
TAY POH CHAI
PUBLIC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT FOR WONG YEE SIONG (E-BPJ/JKA)
BERNARD ONG CHIN YONG

7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30

CHOW DAI YING
TOTAL:

NO. OF SHARES

% of Shares

51,000,000
26,520,000
25,330,000
19,845,000
8,500,000

22.47
11.68
11.16
8.74
3.74

4,000,000

1.76

2,030,000

0.89

1,400,000
1,300,000

0.62
0.57

1,260,000

0.56

1,180,000
1,071,000

0.52
0.47

1,000,000
1,000,000
920,000

0.44
0.44
0.41

900,000

0.40

900,000

0.40

825,000

0.36

800,000

0.35

792,200
766,200
755,000
710,000
701,000
700,000

0.35
0.34
0.33
0.31
0.31
0.31

671,600
600,000

0.30
0.26

577,000
525,000

0.25
0.23

500,000
157,079,000

0.22
69.19
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LIST OF PROPERTIES
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Location/
Address

Description/
Existing Use

No. 368-4-1,
Bellisa Row,
Jalan Burmah,
10350
Penang

An office unit held
under Hakmilik
Stata No. Berdaftar
Geran 58485/
M1/4/49, No. Petak
49, Tingkat No.
4, Bangunan No.
M1, Lot No. 2626,
Bandar George
Town, Section 1,
North East District in
the State of Penang/
Office use

Tenure
Freehold

Smartag Solutions Berhad 639421-X • Annual Report 2011

Land area/
Built-up
area (square
metres)
268 square
metres

Date of
Acquisition

Approximate
age of
Building
(Years)

Audited
Net Book
Value as at
30.09.2011
(RM)

17/06/2011

13

1,295,667

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Seventh Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at Function Hall 1, Level 2,
The Gurney Resort Hotel & Residences, No.18, Persiaran Gurney, 10250 Georgetown, Penang on Friday, 24 February 2012 at
3.00 p.m. to transact the following business: 1.

To receive the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 September 2011 and the Reports of Directors and Auditors
thereon.

2.

To re-elect the following directors who retire pursuant to Article 88 of the Company’s
Articles of Association:• Mr Lim Peng Keong
• Mr Choong Huck Liang

Ordinary Resolution 1
Ordinary Resolution 2

3.

To approve the payment of directors’ fees in respect of the year ended 30 September 2011.

Ordinary Resolution 3

4.

To re-appoint Messrs Baker Tilly Monteiro Heng as auditors of the Company and to authorise
the directors to fix their remuneration.

Ordinary Resolution 4

5.

As Special Business
To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following Resolutions:a)

Ordinary Resolution 5

Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965
“That pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965 and subject to the
approval of the relevant authorities, the directors be and are hereby empowered to
issue shares in the Company from time to time and upon such terms and conditions
and for such purposes as the directors may deem fit provided that the aggregate
number of shares issued pursuant to this resolution does not exceed 10% of the
total issued share capital of the Company for the time being and that the directors
be and are also empowered to obtain the approval for the listing of and quotation
for the additional shares so issued on the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and that
such authority shall continue to be in force until the conclusion of the next Annual
General Meeting or the expiration of the period within which the next Annual General
Meeting is required by law to be held or revoked/varied by resolution passed by the
shareholders in general meeting whichever is the earlier.”

b)

Proposed amendments to the Articles of Association of the Company

Special Resolution 1

“That the amendments to the Articles of Association of the Company contained in
Appendix 1 be and are hereby approved.”
6.

To transact any other business of which due notice shall have been given.

By Order of the Board
Tai Yit Chan (MAICSA 7009143)
Ong Tze-En (MAICSA 7026537)
Chin Lee Phing (MAICSA 7057836)
Joint Company Secretaries
Penang, 30 January 2012
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (cont’d)
Notes:
1.

A proxy may but need not be a Member and the provisions of Section 149(1)(b) of the Companies Act, 1965 shall not
apply to the Company.

2.

To be valid, this form, duly completed must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company not less than 48 hours
before the time for holding the meeting Provided That in the event the Member(s) duly executes the form of proxy but
does not name any proxy, such Member(s) shall be deemed to have appointed the Chairman of the meeting as his/their
proxy, Provided Always that the rest of the proxy form, other than the particulars of the proxy have been duly completed
by the Member(s).

3.

A Member shall be entitled to appoint up to two (2) proxies to attend and vote at the same meeting and the appointment
shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportions of his holdings to be represented by each proxy.

4.

Where a Member is an authorised nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991, it
may appoint at least one (1) proxy in respect of each securities account it holds with ordinary shares of the Company
standing to the credit of the said securities account.

5.

If the appointor is a corporation this form must be executed under the corporation’s common seal or under the hand of
an officer or attorney duly authorised.

Explanatory Notes on Special Business: 6.

The proposed Ordinary Resolution 5 is for the purpose of granting a new general mandate (“General Mandate”) and
empowering the Directors of the Company, pursuant to Section 132D of the Companies Act, 1965 to issue and allot new
shares in the Company from time to time provided that the aggregate number of shares issued pursuant to the General
Mandate does not exceed 10% of the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company for the time being. The General
Mandate, unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, will expire at the next Annual General Meeting
of the Company.
The General Mandate will provide flexibility to the Company for any possible fund raising activities, including but
not limited to further placing of shares, for purpose of funding future investment project(s), working capital and/or
acquisitions.

7.

82

The Special Resolution 1, if passed, will give authority for the Company to amend its Articles of Association in order to
align with the recent amendments of the ACE Market Listing Requirements issued by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.
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STATEMENT ACCOMPANYING NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

(Pursuant to Paragraph 8.29(2) of the ACE Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad)
1.

No individual is seeking election as a Director at the forthcoming Seventh Annual General Meeting of the Company.
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Appendix 1
Special Resolution 1
PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION OF THE COMPANY
That the existing Article 81(b) and Article 81(c) of the Company’s Articles of Association be deleted in its entirely and to
substitute in lieu thereof with the following provisions: Existing Articles

New Articles

81 b)

A member may appoint any person
to be his proxy and the provisions of
Section 149(1)(b) of the Act shall not
apply to the Company.

81 b)

A member of a Company entitled to attend and
vote at a meeting of the Company, or at a meeting
of any class of members of the Company, shall be
entitled to appoint any person as his proxy to attend
and vote instead of the member at the meeting.
There shall be no restriction as to the qualification
of the proxy. The provisions of Section 149(1)(b) of
the Act shall not apply to the Company.

81 c)

Where a member of the Company
is an authorised nominee as defined
under the Central Depositories Act,
it may appoint at least one proxy in
respect of each securities account
it holds with ordinary shares of the
Company standing to the credit of
the said securities account.

81 c) i)

Where a member of the Company is an exempt
authorised nominee which holds ordinary shares in
the Company for multiple beneficial owners in one
securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no
limit to the number of proxies which the exempt
authorized nominee may appoint in respect of each
omnibus account it holds.

81 c) ii)

An exempt authorised nominee refers to an
authorised nominee defined under the Central
Depositories Act, which is exempted from
compliance with the provisions of subsection 25A(1)
of Central Depositories Act.

That the following New Article 81 d) be inserted immediately after Article 81 c) of the Company’s Articles of Association to
read as follows:
New Article
81 d)

84

A proxy appointed to attend and vote at a meeting of a company shall have the same rights as the member
to speak at the meeting.
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PROXY FORM
No. of shares held

CDS account no. of authorized nominee

						
I/We

(Full name as per NRIC and NRIC No./Company No. in BLOCK LETTERS)

of

(Full address in BLOCK LETTERS and telephone no.)

being a member/members of Smartag Solutions Berhad, hereby appoint
Proxy 1

(Full name as per NRIC and NRIC No. in BLOCK LETTERS)

Proxy 2 (Optional)
(Full name as per NRIC and NRIC No. in BLOCK LETTERS)

or failing him the Chairman of the meeting as my/our proxy, to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Seventh Annual
General Meeting of the Company to be held at Function Hall 1, Level 2, The Gurney Resort Hotel & Residences, No.18,
Persiaran Gurney, 10250 Georgetown, Penang on Friday, 24 February 2012 at 3.00 p.m. and at any adjournments thereof.
RESOLUTION

FOR

AGAINST

Ordinary Resolution 1
Ordinary Resolution 2
Ordinary Resolution 3
Ordinary Resolution 4
Ordinary Resolution 5
Special Resolution 1
(Please indicate with “X” how you wish your vote to be cast. If no specific direction as to voting is given, the proxy will vote or
abstain at his discretion).
Signed this

day of

2012.
For appointment of two (2) proxies, no. of
shares and percentage of shareholdings to be
represented by the proxies: No. of shares

Percentage

Proxy 1
Proxy 2
Total

100%

Signature of Shareholder					

NOTES:
1.

A proxy may but need not be a Member and the provisions of Section 149(1)(b) of the Act shall not apply to the Company.

2.

To be valid, this form, duly completed must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company not less than 48 hours before the
time for holding the meeting Provided That in the event the Member(s) duly executes the form of proxy but does not name any proxy,
such Member(s) shall be deemed to have appointed the Chairman of the meeting as his/their proxy, Provided Always that the rest of
the proxy form, other than the particulars of the proxy have been duly completed by the Member(s).

3.

A Member shall be entitled to appoint up to two (2) proxies to attend and vote at the same meeting and the appointment shall be
invalid unless he specifies the proportions of his holdings to be represented by each proxy.

4.

Where a Member is an authorised nominee as defined under the Central Depositories Act, it may appoint at least one (1) proxy in
respect of each securities account it holds with ordinary shares of the Company standing to the credit of the said securities account.

5.

If the appointor is a corporation this form must be executed under the corporation’s common seal or under the hand of an officer or
attorney duly authorised.
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42A, Jalan Sultan Ahmad Shah, 10050 Penang

Please fold across the lines and close

